TREATMENT OF CHROMIUM CONTAMINATED SOIL BY CO-PYROLYSIS WITH RICE STRAW

by

Yimeng Chen

B.S., Wenzhou University, 2016

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES (ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE)

UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

April 2019

© Yimeng Chen, 2019

Abstract

The direct discharge of tannery waste and effluent could result in severe chromium (Cr) contamination in soils. This study focused on the remediation of Cr-contaminated soil via co-pyrolysis with rice straw. The influence of co-pyrolysis temperature, rice straw / soil mixing ratio and reaction time on Cr immobilization were investigated. Compared to untreated soil, the leachable Cr and total Cr(VI) in co-pyrolyzed soil were decreased by up to 95 % and 86 %, respectively. With increasing temperature and rice straw addition, the leachable Cr and total Cr(VI) were reduced. Reaction time did not show a significant effect on Cr immobilization. The time-varying desorption test indicated that the equilibrium amount of released Cr in various extractants was inhibited by co-pyrolysis. The Simple Bioaccessibility Extraction Test also showed that the bioaccessible Cr in the gastric phase was decreased after co-pyrolysis. The results suggested that co-pyrolysis was beneficial on Cr immobilization.

Abstract	ii
Table of Cont	ents iii
List of Tables	V
List of Figure	svi
Glossary	viii
Acknowledge	mentix
Chapter 1 Int	roduction1
Chapter 2 Lit	terature Review4
2.1 Chro	mium contamination in the soil4
2.2 Cher	nistry of chromium
2.3 The	toxicity of Cr7
2.4 Gene	eral remediation techniques of Cr contaminated soil
2.4.1	Isolation and containment
2.4.2	Phytoremediation9
2.4.3	Chemical remediation
2.4.4	Bioremediation
2.4.5	Pyrolysis treatment
2.5 Со-р	yrolysis17
2.6 Sum	mary19
Chapter 3 M	ethods and materials
3.1 Soil	samples and rice straw preparation
3.2 Со-р	pyrolysis reactor
3.3 Со-р	vyrolysis procedures
3.4 Prod	uction of co-pyrolyzed char23
3.4.1	Char produced at different temperatures23
3.4.2	Char produced at different rice straw/soil ratios
3.4.3	Char produced at different reaction time25
3.5 Phys	icochemical characterization of the char by co-pyrolysis of soil and rice straw
3.5.1	Loss-on-ignition (LOI)

Table of Contents

3.5.	2 laboratory analyses	27
3.5.	3 Leaching test	28
3.5.	4 The concentration of total Cr(VI)	29
3.5.	5 BCR sequential extraction experiments	30
3.5.	6 Time-varying desorption kinetics	31
3.5.	7 Bioaccessibility of Cr	32
3.5.	8 Characterization of char samples	
3.5.	9 Statistical analyses	
Chapter	4 Results and discussion	35
4.1	Initial test results	35
4.2	Results of loss-on-ignition (LOI)	
4.3	Properties of selected samples	
4.4	Results of SPLP	43
4.5	Total contents of Cr(VI)	46
4.6	BCR results	50
4.7	Time-varying desorption kinetics	
4.8	Content of bioaccessible Cr	
4.9	Characterization of pyrolyzed chars (SEM, XRD and FTIR)	57
4.10 comm	Potential benefits and challenges of applying the proposed co-pyrolys ercially	sis technique 67
Chapter	5 Conclusions	69
5.1	Research summary	69
5.2	Limitations and future research	70
REFERI	ENCES	72

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in temperature experiments	the
Table 3.2 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in trice straw / soil ratio experiments	the .25
Table 3.3 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in treaction time experiments	the .26
Table 4.1 Initial test results for exploring optimal conditions	36
Table 4.2 LOI of different temperature produced char	38
Table 4.3 LOI of different ratio of rice straw produced char	38
Table 4.4 LOI of different reaction time produced char	39
Table 4.5 Properties (mean ± standard deviation) of the soil sample and representative samples	.42
Table 4.6 Pseudo-first-order and Pseudo-second-order kinetic equation parameters for the release of Cr from selected representative samples using three different extractants (nitric acid, citric acid and CaCl ₂)	.55

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 The natural chromium cycle in the environment (Dhal et al., 2013)7
Figure 3.1 Principle parts of the co-pyrolysis reactor: Parr 4848 Reactor Controller (left) and Floor Stand Reactor (right)
Figure 4.1 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% of rice straw under different temperatures (n=4, $p < 0.05$). Means followed by similar letter were not significant different (P>0.05)
Figure 4.2 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis under 200 \mathbb{C} and 300 \mathbb{C} at various ratios of rice straw (n=4). Means followed by similar letter or no letter were not significant different (P>0.05)
Figure 4.3 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% rice straw under 300 degree at various reaction time (n=4, p>0.05)
Figure 4.4 The concentration of $Cr(VI)$ in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% of rice straw under different temperature (n=2, p<0.05). Means followed by similar letter were not significant different (P>0.05)
Figure 4.5 The concentration of $Cr(VI)$ in the soil after co-pyrolysis under 300 \mathbb{C} and 200 \mathbb{C} at various ratios of rice straw (n=2). Means followed by similar letter or no letter were not significant different (P>0.05)
Figure 4.6 The concentration of Cr(VI) in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% rice straw under 300 \mathbb{C} at various reaction time (n=2, p>0.05)
Figure 4.7 Fractions of Cr in untreated and co-pyrolyzed soil samples by BCR analysis (F1, exchangeable and acid-soluble fraction; F2, reducible fraction; F3, oxidizable fraction; F4, residual fraction), (a) different reaction time, (b) different addition ratios of rice straw at 300 ℃
Figure 4.8 Amount of Cr released from untreated and treated samples using different extractants, (a) citric acid, (b) nitric acid, (c) CaCl ₂ solution
Figure 4.9 Bioavailable content of Cr in different treated samples by a SBET method57
Figure 4.10 SEM of untreated soil
Figure 4.11 SEM of soil sample R0-300
Figure 4.12 SEM of soil sample R20-300
Figure 4.13 SEM of soil sample R20-200
Figure 4.14 XRD spectra of untreated soil and selected pyrolyzed samples (R0-300 and R10- 300)

Figure 4.15	FTIR spectra	of untreated sc	oil and selected	pyrolyzed sa	amples (R0-	300 and R10-
300)						66

Glossary

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BET	Brunauer–Emmett–Teller
CCME	Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment
CEC	Cation exchange capacity
COPR	Chromite-ore-processing residue
CRP	Cr(VI) reduction percentage
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FAAS	Flame atomic absorption spectrometer
FTIR	Fourier-transform infrared
LOI	Loss-on-ignition
LSD	Least significant difference
nZVI	Nano zero-valent iron
PBET	Physiologically based extraction test
pH _{PZC}	pH of point of zero charge
RBALP	Relative bioaccessibility leaching procedure
SBET	Simple bioaccessibility extraction test
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SPLP	Synthetic precipitation leaching procedure
TCLP	Toxicity characteristic leaching procedure
US EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
XRD	X-ray diffraction

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to thank my co-supervisors, Dr. Ronald W. Thring of University of Northern British Columbia and Dr. Hualin Chen of Wenzhou University. They always made time for me whenever I had questions about my research or writing. They also allowed me to manage this thesis as my own work, but opportunely guided me in the right the direction. With their continuous instructions, guidance and support, I completed my research successfully.

I would also like to thank Dr. Jianbing Li of University of Northern British Columbia, who was my supervisory committee member. I am gratefully beholden to his insightful and valuable comments and discussions on this thesis. I would like to express my appreciation to the expertise who was involved in the progress report for this research: Dr. Jiangmin Zhou of Wenzhou University, and I am grateful for her critical comments and recommendations on the improvement of my research experiments.

I would also like to acknowledge my officemates, who kindly shared their knowledge, skills and thoughts, provided me with assistances, and created valuable discussions and joyful moments during my studies.

Finally, I must express my deep gratitude to my parents, for their unfailing support and constant encouragement throughout my study. Without them, I would not have the opportunity to come to University of Northern British Columbia and complete my degree.

Chapter 1 Introduction

The sharp development in industrial activities, such as leather tanning, contributes to enormous effluent and sludge waste with high concentrations of heavy metals. The disposal of these effluents and sludge wastes without rigorous treatment causes soil contamination and poses a severe threat to human health. China, as one of the biggest leather-producing countries in the world, generates a high amount of pollution during the leather manufacturing process annually (Dang and Shan, 2018). For example, sludge and wastewater discharged from leather plants in Shuitou Town, Pingyang, China have contaminated the nearby alluvial soils with chromium (Cr). Since the waste was not previously proper treated before discharge, the Cr concentration was found to be as high as 2484 mg kg⁻¹ in the soil (Chen et al., 2012).

Cr as one of the hazardous heavy metals cannot be destroyed by chemical degradation or biodegradation, but remains and accumulates in the soil leading to biomagnifications (Mishra, 2017). However, Cr contaminants are still largely generated and increase in total amount due to rapid and continuing economic development (Liikanen et al., 2018). Crcontaminated soil may present a unique set of problems due to the complex chemistry of Cr. There are many oxidation states of Cr, ranging from Cr^{2+} to Cr^{6+} . The most common and stable forms in the soil are Cr(III) and Cr(VI) species. These two species have different chemical properties, and their influence on organisms are different. Cr(VI) is water soluble in the full pH range, and it is highly toxic to all forms of living organisms and may cause death of animals and humans when ingested in large doses (Zayed et al., 2003). Conversely, Cr(III) is relatively immobile as it has strong adsorption capacity to negative charged ions and colloids in soil, and subsequently precipitates in the form of Cr(OH)₃ in the pH range 4–8 (Dhal et al., 2013). The most mobile forms of Cr(VI) found in the soil are CrO_4^{2-} and $HCrO_4^-$, which are easy to diffuse across the cell membrane, but the low solubility of Cr(III) makes it difficult to penetrate cellular membranes (Shahid et al., 2017; Dhal et al., 2013). Therefore, the treatment to reduce the toxicity of Cr-contaminated soil is thought to be a matter of great concern.

In order to reduce the toxic of Cr in the soil, two main approaches can be applied, i.e., removing Cr from the soil or immobilizing it. Traditional methods such as chemical treatment, bioremediation and phytoremediation have their own advantages and drawbacks. For example, chemical treatment is a simple and fast remediation method, but it needs high cost and may cause secondary pollution at contaminated sites (Yao et al., 2012). There remains an urgent demand to explore an appropriate technology to reduce the toxicity of Crcontaminated soil. Research is therefore focused on the pyrolysis technology that can meet environmental challenges. Pyrolysis is an effective and relatively cost-saving thermal treatment to inhibit heavy metal release and reduce Cr(VI) to less toxic Cr(III) (Xu et al., 2008; Swarnalatha et al., 2006). Zhang et al. (2009) explored the influence of pyrolysis on Cr, Zn, Pb, Cu, Hg and Cd in sediment, and the results showed pyrolysis strongly immobilized metals and transformed Cr(VI) to less soluble Cr(III). Taking into account the high concentration of Cr in the soil contaminated by leather tanneries, a more effective and stable method is essential for practical application to minimize the environmental risk. This may be achieved by using some additives to enhance the efficiency of immobilization of Cr during pyrolysis treatment.

Rice production is common worldwide, generating a large amount of rice straw. The biochar from rice straw has strong adsorption capacity due to its large surface area and microporosity (Jiang et al., 2012). Furthermore, rice straw consists of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. During the pyrolysis, the release of volatile organic matter can form a reduction atmosphere, which is beneficial for converting Cr (VI) to Cr (III) (Zhang et

al., 2016). By-products of pyrolyzed cellulose including catechol, diols and other compounds can perform as reducing and chelating agents toward metal ions (Mohan et al., 2011). These characteristics of rice straw indicate that it may be an effective and environmentally-friendly additive to help immobilize Cr. Hence, rice straw is selected as a cost-effective additive in the present study to be co-pyrolyzed with Cr-contaminated soil for achieving Cr immobilization.

In the present study, the co-pyrolysis treatment of Cr contaminated soil with rice straw at different temperatures (100-300°C) was explored to immobilize Cr in the contaminated soil using a bench-scale apparatus. The influence of co-pyrolysis parameters, including temperature, mixing ratio of rice straw to soil and reaction time, on the leaching of Cr and Cr (VI) reduction behavior was investigated. The main objectives of the study were: (1) to analyze the characteristic changes of soil before and after co-pyrolysis treatment; (2) to evaluate the reduction of Cr (VI), stability and leachability of Cr in the co-pyrolyzed samples; (3) to find the optimal parameters of co-pyrolysis application to efficiently immobilize Cr in the soil; This thesis can advance the understanding of characteristics of co-pyrolyzed chars produced by mixing Cr-contaminated soil with rice straw. In recent years, some efforts have been made to explore the products of co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge and different kind of biomass (Jin et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2017). However, only a few reports studied the application of co-pyrolysis to Cr-contaminated soil and the impacts of co-pyrolysis on the behavior of Cr under temperature 100-300 C . It should be noted that lower temperature copyrolysis treatment not only saves energy and costs, but also helps reduce the more-toxic forms of Cr in the contaminated soil in an easy and economic method.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.1 Chromium contamination in the soil

Chromium is regarded as a vital contaminant released into the environment by many industrial activities (Mishra and Bharagava, 2016). Unlike organic contaminants, chromium in the soil environment can not be destroyed by chemical degradation or biodegradation, but remain in soils causing biomagnifications. They would also accumulate in the food chain, which contributes to a significant threat to public health and safety (Mishra, 2017). Recently, Cr contamination in soil was frequently reported in the world (Ballesteros et al., 2017; Li et al., 2012; Khan, 2001), and Cr discharges into the environment were found to far exceed the international guidelines values (50-100 kg per year) (Gil-Cardeza et al., 2014). It was reported that approximately 200,000 tonnes of chromite ore processing residue (COPR) was deposited in Xiangxiang, Hunan, China, and the soil collected in this area contained 19,700 mg kg⁻¹ Cr (III) and 5,880 mg kg⁻¹ Cr (VI) (Xu et al., 2011). It has also been reported that the maximum concentration of Cr in the soil is around 64 mg·kg⁻¹ to protect environment and human health (CCME, 2015). Therefore, the treatment and disposal of soils polluted by the use of this metal has attracted increasing attention (Donkor et al., 2005).

Many industrial activities such as steel production, wood preservation, mining, ink manufacture, electroplating and leather tanning can cause elevated levels of Cr content, because generated Cr waste can be spread in the soil (Viti et al., 2003). In addition, some agriculture practices, such as the use of sewage sludge from leather tanning containing high concentration of Cr, are responsible for the stream of this metal into the biosphere (Ertani et al., 2017). During leather processing, the putrescible skin has to be converted into imputrescible leather with tanning agents, among which chromium sulfate is the most popular reagent (Nashy et al., 2011). The excess chromium salts not being used will be charged into the effluents. Besides, organic fertilizers, such as phosphorus fertilizers and biosolids containing large amounts of Cr, are considered as a source of Cr pollution in agricultural soils (Vogel et al., 2015). Although Cr is still a kind of fundamental micronutrient in the diet of animals and humans because of its effect to mammals' normal sugar, lipid and protein metabolism, high levels of Cr is still toxic even in its oxidation state (Sharma et al., 2011).

2.2 Chemistry of chromium

Chromium, as a naturally occurring element, is the 7th most abundant element in the Earth and the 21st on the Earth's crust (Dhal et al., 2013). Furthermore, Chromium has a complex electronic and valence shell chemistry, because it can easily transfer from one oxidation state to another (Prado et al., 2016). Inorganic chromium compounds occur in valence states ranging from -2 to +6, but the most common and stable forms in the soil are Cr(III) and Cr(VI) species (Ashraf et al., 2017), owing to their predominance and stability in the ambient environment. These two species have different chemical properties, and their influence on organisms are different. Normally, Cr (VI) mainly occurs in the form as oxyanions such as hydrochromate (HCrO₄⁻), dichromate (Cr₂O₇²⁻) and chromate (CrO₄²⁻) ions (Mandina and Mugadza, 2014). Cr (VI) is water soluble in the full pH range, and it can be reduced to Cr (III) in the presence of organic matter (EPA 1984). Conversely, Cr (III) is considered an essential micro-nutrient at relatively low levels for human and animal health (Eskin, 2016), largely because it is necessary for lipid and sugar metabolism (Bai et al., 2015). It is also relatively immobile as it has strong adsorption capacity to negative charged ions and colloids in soils, and subsequently precipitates in the form of Cr (OH)₃ in the pH range 4-8

(Dhal et al., 2013). As the pH decreases, it is scarcely mobile and present in insoluble inorganic compounds (Dhal et al., 2013).

The two main species of Cr can interchange and coexist in the chromium cycle (Figure 2.1), which is a dynamic balance predominantly regulated by oxidation and reduction. Cr (VI) is a strong oxidizing agent, and it can be easily reduced to Cr (III) in the presence of organic matter under acidic conditions. On the contrary, Cr (III) in the soil can be oxidized by manganese oxide (MnO₂) through surface oxidation under neutral pH (Apte et al., 2005). It has also been reported that oxidized Cr (III) amount is proportional to the Mn oxide contents and to the reduced amount of MnO₂ (Ertani et al., 2017). Although organic matter and divalent iron can accelerate the reduction of Cr (VI) to a rather stable form Cr (III), high concentration of Cr (VI) can impede this reduction (Cervantes et al., 2001). Besides, Cr (VI) is preferred to be adsorbed by the positive charges on the mineral coating of iron oxides with the releasing of OH- groups (Stollenwerk and Grove 1985). Moreover, soil redox potential (Eh) and pH also play important roles in the speciation of Cr. Normally, reduction process is present at low Eh, and will increase pH by consuming protons while oxidation is the opposite (Shaheen and Rinklebe, 2014; Frohne et al., 2015). Soil pH can greatly affect sorption/desorption processes and speciation of Cr (Amin and Kassem, 2012). Cr (III) has low solubility at pH < 5.5, and will completely precipitate and be stable in the soil at pH >5.5 (Kabata-Pendias, 2010). Otherwise, Cr (VI) remains unstable and mobilized in both acidic and alkaline soil pH (Kabata-Pendias, 2010).



Figure 2.1 The natural chromium cycle in the environment (Dhal et al., 2013)

2.3 The toxicity of Cr

Although Cr is an essential nutrient for humans and mammals, it is still listed as one of the priority 129 environmental contaminants by the Environmental Protection Agency (Sharma et al., 2012). Moreover, Cr(VI) is regarded as one of the 14 most toxic elements for the health of living organisms (USEPA 2000). The positive or negative effects depend on the dose, exposure time, and its oxidation state (Ertani et al., 2017). Humans and mammals can be exposed to Cr by ingestion, skin contact and inhalation (Ertani et al., 2017). Chromium uptake by vegetables and accumulation in edible plant parts can induce health problems to consumers (Noli and Tsamos, 2016), and the consumption of these is the major pathway for humans to exposure to Cr other than skin contact and breathing (Wang et al., 2011; Xiong et al., 2014).

Cr (III) is considered as a kind of nutrient for humans and mammals when the daily intake dose is between 50 and 200 μ g day⁻¹, because it can participate in glucose metabolism,

decrease the body fat, cholesterol and triglyceride levels, activate enzyme reactions, and increase the muscle mass (Bielicka et al., 2005). However, people whose daily intake of Cr(III) is higher than this criterion will also experience health problems. Compared to Cr(III), Cr(VI) is 10–100 times more toxic to all forms of living organisms, and may cause death of animals and human when ingested in large doses (Zayed et al., 2003). The LD50 (dose that causes the death of 50% of a defined animal population) of oral toxicity for rats is 50 - 100mg kg⁻¹ for Cr(VI) and 1900–3000 mg kg⁻¹ for Cr(III), indicating that Cr(VI) is more toxic than Cr(III) (Shahid et al., 2017). The main mechanism of Cr(VI) toxicity is related to its easy diffusion across cell membranes, followed by the reduction of Cr(VI) in cells producing free radicals (OH, O, O2, RS, R) which finally cause DNA alterations (Kotasâ & Stasicka, 2000). In addition, the reduction of Cr (VI) will generate unstable Cr intermediate species (Cr(IV) and Cr(V)), which will produce more free radicals during the reduction process (Costa, 2003). Alternatively, the excess of Cr (III) is less toxic, because most Cr (III) is unlikely to penetrate cellular membranes (Shahid et al., 2017). Chromium is required in trace amounts for mammals, but it is not an essential element for plants (Lukina et al., 2016). A few studies reported that relatively little amount of Cr may promote the productivity of plants (Prasad et al., 2010), but it has also been shown that exposure to Cr may bring some toxic effects in several biochemical processes, including plant germination, root growth and length, stem growth and leaf development (Tiwari et al., 2009).

2.4 General remediation techniques of Cr contaminated soil

Many technologies exist for the remediation of heavy metal contaminated soil, such as isolation and containment, phytoremediation, chemical treatment, bioremediation and pyrolysis treatments.

2.4.1 Isolation and containment

Isolation technologies can prevent the movement of contaminants by isolating and containing them within a certain area, which can reduce the available pollution by reducing the exposed area or leachable contaminants. According to the requirement of US EPA, it is required to reduce the permeability of waste to less than 1×10^{-7} m/s (USEPA, 1994). It is aimed at separating the contamination temporarily, and is usually implemented during the site assessment and remediation. Physical walls include vertical and horizontal barriers. Vertical barriers are mainly used for groundwater treatment. They can help reduce the transfer of polluted groundwater and separate the unpolluted groundwater from polluted groundwater (Jankaite and Vasarevičius, 2005). On the contrary, technologies for the construction of horizontal barriers are still under development. Horizontal barriers have the potential to control the downward movement of pollutants through using liners without excavation of the contaminated site. Therefore, the isolation technology can limit the contacting of potential existing contamination and its source by human, fauna, and flora (Dermont et al., 2008). However, the toxicity of the polluted site is not reduced, and it does not involve the treatment of the soil (Martin et al., 2004). Furthermore, the long-term effect of this treatment has not yet been proven, and monitoring systems may also be required.

2.4.2 Phytoremediation

Phytoremediation technology is defined as the use of plants to remove, destroy or sequester contaminants from the environment (Jankaite and Vasarevičius, 2005). There are five main subgroups of phytoremediation: phytoextraction, phytodegradation, rhizofiltration, phytostabilisation, and phytovolatilization. First, this technology was being driven by the high cost of other remediation approaches, and using metal-accumulating plants to remediate

soil and water is a sustainable and environmental friendly technology. Furthermore, phytoremediation can prevent erosion of soils and leaching of contaminants (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2014). However, the plants used must have the certain hyperaccumulation ability, and they can accumulate heavy metals at a level 100 times greater than common plants without yield reduction (Chaney et al., 2007). In addition, these plants must not only accumulate high levels of heavy metals but also have high growth rates, strong adaptability to the local environment, strong resistance to pathogens and be easy to be cultivate (Ali et al., 2013). After accumulating certain concentrations of heavy metals, these heavy metals will be removed through harvesting of the plants and burning them.

Phytoremediation can also be achieved by changing the speciation of heavy metals to decrease their bioavailability and toxicity (Rahman et al., 2016). Some researchers have investigated the use of phytoremediation to reduce the toxicity of Cr in the soil. Kumpiene et al., (2008) found that two elements, Cr and Pb, can be immobilized by a vegetation cover, which is cost-effective and environmentally sustainable. In addition, deep rooted plants are found that could effectively reduce the highly toxic Cr (VI) to less toxic and less bioavailable Cr (III) (Pulford and Watson, 2003). Furthermore, it is known that Cr can not be easily transferred to above-ground plant tissues, predominantly being held in the roots (Pulford et al., 2001). Singh and Sinha, (2004) reported three aquatic plants (*Scirpus lacustris, Phragmites karka* and *Bacopa monnieri*) grown on tannery sludge to assess the ability of them to absorb, translocate and concentrate metals under different chromium concentrations. The results showed that these three plants were able to grow in tannery sludge containing 214 mg kg⁻¹ Cr and reduce the concentration of Cr significantly with an increase in the plant's biomass. Paisio et al., (2018) suggested that *Lemna minuta Kunth* was also as a suitable

candidate for the phytoremediation to remove Cr (VI) and phenol, and it can grow normally without damage on photosynthetic processes.

It is recognized that phytoremediation can improve the chemical and biological characteristics of contaminated soil, like increasing organic matter, nutrient amounts, cation exchange capacity (CEC) and biological activity (Arienzo et al. 2004). Furthermore, phytoremediation can efficiently prevent landscape destruction and develop the diversity of soil microorganisms to maintain a healthy ecosystem (Vamerali et al., 2010). Compared to other remediation methods, phytoremediation is more economical and less disruptive to the environment. Excavation and transportation of pollution to the disposal sites can also be avoided, which is easily accepted socially by the public. Although this technique is effective in remediating heavy metal contaminated soils, these still exist many problems during the application process. Sutton and Dick, (1987) found that the main constraint of establishing vegetation cover is the acidity of the soil, although organic residues, liming materials and lime-stabilized biosolids can help weaken the effects of soil acidity (Basta et al. 2001). Besides, only a narrow range of species can grow in heavy metal rich soil (Peng et al., 2006). There are several other challenges in practice due to the lack of information on the agricultural management of these hyperaccumulators, slow-growing and poor shoots and roots (Navari-Izzo and Quartacci 2001; Mitch 2002). Moreover, phytoremediation may be an inappropriate method to remediate sites where the heavy metal concentration is too high because phytotoxic symptoms can occur in the plants (Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2014).

2.4.3 Chemical remediation

Chemical remediation use chemicals like sulfur dioxide, lime, ferrous sulfate and sodium sulfite to detoxify or decrease the mobility of heavy metals ((Jacobs et al., 2001). The

three reactions that can be used for this purpose are oxidation, reduction and neutralization reactions. The oxidation reaction changes the oxidation state of the metal atom through the loss of electrons. Many oxidizing agents are used to detoxify the precipitates or solubilize metals, including potassium permanganate, hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorite and chlorine gas (Mulligan et al., 2001). The opposite, reduction reaction is a process that changes the oxidation state of metals through adding electrons; the reduction agents are mainly alkali metals such as sulfur dioxide, sulfite salts and ferrous sulfate. Recently, a reducing agent, zero valent iron, has been widely used for chemical remediation of Cr contaminated soils (Fu et al., 2017). Neutralization reaction is usually implemented to adjust the pH of acidic or basic soils. It can also be used to precipitate insoluble metal salts in contaminated water or as a pre-treatment for oxidation or reduction reactions (Mulligan et al., 2001).

According to the literature, chemical treatment is often used to reduce Cr (VI) to Cr (III). Li et al., (2017) found that carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) stabilized microscale iron sulfide (FeS) particles can effectively immobilize Cr (VI) in the soil. The total Cr and Cr (VI) in Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP) leachate decreased significantly, and the exchangeable Cr fraction was mainly converted to an Fe-Mn oxides bound fraction due to the precipitation of Cr(III)-Fe(III) hydroxides (Li et al., 2017). The possible mechanism of Cr (VI) reduction by FeS may be partial dissolution of Fe ²⁺ and S ²⁻, which donate electrons to Cr (VI) (Mullet et al., 2004). Compared to iron sulfide, nanon-scale zero-valent iron is more frequently used for Cr (VI) removal. Di Palma et al., (2015) assessed the effectiveness of Cr (VI) removal from Cr contaminated soil using iron sulphate (FeSO₄) and colloidal nano zero-valent iron (nZVI). The results showed that both reducing agents could reduce Cr (VI) to Cr (III), but the reaction was faster and more efficient when colloidal nZVI was applied. They

also reported the reduction reaction leading to an increase of chromium in the oxidehydroxide fraction and confirmed the mechanism of chromium-iron hydroxides precipitation.

Chemical treatment can be applied in-situ or ex-situ. In-situ chemical treatment is simple and fast, but it still has complex operations, high cost and will produce other contaminants in contaminated sites (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). The continual use of reductants will produce much metallic sludge, and then this application will become ineffective or not cost-benefit. Therefore, chemical agents should be carefully selected when it applied for in-situ remediation to avoid secondary pollution. Sometimes, chemical treatment is not specific, and other metals may convert into more toxic or mobile forms.

2.4.4 Bioremediation

Bioremediation techniques involved the application of suitable living microorganisms to transform harmful pollutants into nontoxic compounds (Asha and Sandeep, 2013). Since heavy metals cannot be biologically degraded, sorption, uptake, precipitation and valence state charges are the main mechanisms to bioremediate metal contaminated soils. Microorganisms are known to oxidize and reduce heavy metal pollutants. For example, *Bacillus subtilis* and sulfate reducing bacteria in the presence of sulfur can transform Cr (VI) to less mobile Cr (III) (Mulligan et al., 2001). In addition, bioremediation is another technique that can bring contaminated site back to its original condition without any harmful impacts (Adhikari et al., 2004). Many living organisms like bacteria, fungi, yeast, algae are reported for their remediation capabilities. Although many microorganisms have been applied in many different research work and field remediation, the viability and metabolic activity of cells are still the main problems affecting the efficiency of detoxification (Cheung et al., 2007).

It has been reported that reductases like ChrR (from Pseudomonas putida), YieF (from E. coli) and Tkw3 (from B. megaterium) can transform Cr (VI) to Cr (III) through electron shuttle (Qamar et al., 2011). Thatoi et al., (2017) reported that Chromate transporters were responsible for Cr (VI) resistance, and it was identified by cloning and sequencing of the ChrA genes. The ChrA genes encode hydrophobic proteins (ChrA) of 416 and 401 amino acid residues in Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Cupriavidus metallidurans, respectively. After that, a 13-transmembrane segment, which is formed by the duplication of a 6-transmembrane segment ancestral protein, was found in ChrA in Pseudomonas, and these two half ChrA can achieve different functions in the Cr (VI) transformation (Cervantes and Campos-García, 2007). Ahemad, (2014) reported that the chromate tolerance of ChrA protein was related to the decreased accumulation of CrO₄²⁻, and ChrA was assumed to involved in the extrusion of chromate ions. He et al., (2011) found a YieF gene and several genes which encode reductases were involved in chromate reduction. Das et al., (2014) isolated a Cr (VI) tolerant bacteria which was identified as *B. amyloliquefaciens and* found it could reduce 100 mg L^{-1} of Cr (VI) within 45 h when pH was 7 and temperature was 35 °C.

It is generally accepted by the public that engineered microorganisms are a better choice to reduce the toxicity of heavy metals, but their release is still a concern. The purified enzymes are frequently used in laboratory research, which can avoid culture sensitivity to ambient toxicants, but they are too expensive to be applied in field remediation. Sometimes, many polluted sites are lacking nutrients which may lead to a slow growth of bacteria, and the bioremediation efficiency is inhibited. A number of organic contaminants like petroleum hydrocarbons, alcohols and solvents can be biodegraded, but many industrial chemicals like PCBs and chlorinated solvents cannot be easily degraded (Boopathy, 2000). Different waste sites have own circumstances and different contaminations, so bioremediation have to modified to adapt to each contaminated site.

2.4.5 Pyrolysis treatment

Pyrolysis is a kind of thermal treatment of organic compounds carried out in an oxygen-limited environment, which helps reduce metal leaching from several organic wastes such as sewage sludge (Méndez, et al., 2012), fly ash (Nowak et al. 2013), and biomass (Stals et al. 2010). During pyrolysis, many complicated reactions occur simultaneously, like dehydration, isomerization, depolymerization, decarboxylation, aromatization and charring (Collard and Blin, 2014; Lange, 2007; Vamvuka, 2011). It has been shown by many researches that the first step of pyrolysis is the evaporation of free moisture, and then oil cracking and repolymerization can occurr after the decomposition stage (White et al., 2011). Traditional methods such as incineration can help accelerate biomass energy recovery, but it is cost prohibitive and some toxic metals such as Pb and Cd may volatilize into the air or be retained in the fly ash, which needs further treatment (Nzihou and Stanmore, 2013). Compared to incineration, pyrolysis is a relative cost-saving technique which can make use of the energy generated from the combustion of the pyrolyzed biogas and maintain it without extra energy input (Hossain et al., 2010). Hence, pyrolysis presents many advantages, such as decreased amount of flue gas, repressed generation of acidic gases and dioxins, less pathogens, reduced bioavailability of heavy metals, especially Cr, and also transform organic materials to bio-energy. Research is therefore focused more on pyrolysis treatment (Erdem and Özverdi, 2008).

Research was conducted to explore the influence of direct application of pyrolysis to immobilize heavy metals in contaminated soils, and the results showed that this method did

have the potential to encapsulate some heavy metals (Pb, Cd) in contaminated soil by heat treatment (Debela et al., 2012). Zhang et al., (2009) examined the influence of pyrolysis treatment on the behavior of Hg, Cr, Zn, Pb, Cu and Cd in a sediment, and found that metals were strongly fixed in the treated sediment. It was also found that heavy metals would be transformed to more stable fractions after pyrolysis, and Cr (VI) could be efficiently reduced to Cr (III). Devi & Saroha, (2014) also observed that heavy metals became enriched in biochar matrix after pyrolysis, but the bio-available heavy metals in biochar were immobilized. The resultant biochar was analyzed by sequential extraction procedure to assess the mobility, bioavailability and leaching potential of heavy metals in the biochar. The results showed that pyrolysis could convert heavy metals from unstable fractions (F1, F2, F3 and F4) into non-bioavailable fraction (F5) which was not prone to leaching and degradation. There are two reasons to explain the immobilization of heavy metals by pyrolysis. One is that metals can react with SiO_2 and Al_2O_3 in the mineral phase at a high temperature (Jin et al., 2009). Another reason is that high pH during pyrolysis can decrease the dissolution of metals (Zhang et al., 2009).

Many factors can influence the pyrolysis process, such as the selection of feedstock (particle size, biomass type), reaction conditions (temperature, reaction pressure, heating rate, residence time), and reactor configurations, which can affect the efficiency of heavy metal immobilization in the contaminated soil (Agrafioti et al., 2013). Among these factors, temperature is the key parameter, because higher temperature will cause lower biochar yield (Hossain et al., 2011), cation exchange capacity (Song & Guo, 2012), water sorption capacity (Gaskin et al., 2007) and higher pH, carbon content (Demirbas, 2004), surface area (Han et al., 2016) and more stable heavy metals (He et al., 2010). Devi & Saroha, (2014) pyrolyzed paper mill sludge at the temperature range of 200 - 700℃, and the heavy metals portioned

into the solid (biochar), liquid (bio-oil) and gas products (biogas) which depended on the pyrolysis temperature and the types of heavy metals. Cetin et al., (2004) studied the physical and chemical structure of chars produced by biomass to explore the effect of heating rate and pressure on pyrolysis. They found that high heating rates and low pyrolysis pressure could help increase char reactivity, change the structure of biomass and influence the physical and chemical structures of char particles. It was also demonstrated that increased pyrolysis pressure contributed to larger char particles and lower total surface area, while higher heating rates might generate larger surface area. The increase of pyrolysis temperature produces biochar with larger surface area, which contributes to higher sorption and enhances soil nutrient and water holding capacity (Tang et al., 2013; Carrier et al., 2012).

2.5 Co-pyrolysis

Although pyrolysis has the potential to reduce the leaching of Cr and transform it to more stable fractions, the pyrolysis process still requires much energy input due to the high temperature demand (300-900 \mathbb{C}) and the concentration of metals in leachate is still high (Zhang et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2017). Pyrolysis of contaminated soil or sewage sludge can transfer toxic metals to more stable and less toxic fractions (Debela et al., 2012; Jin et al., 2017;). However, concerning the numerous metals and metalloids co-existing in the contaminated site, a more stable and efficient technology should be investigated to reduce the risk of reusing contaminated site (Cheng et al., 2014). Hence, co-pyrolysis of soil enhanced by biomass amendment appears to be a new method to solve soil contamination and utilize energy effectively.

Manara and Zabaniotou, (2012) found some synergistic effects after co-processing of sewage sludge with biomass, including improving the fuel's quality and the processing

efficiency. Furthermore, the mixture of sewage sludge and biomass can result in the dilution of inorganic and toxic compounds. Jin et al. (2017) mixed bamboo sawdust with sewage sludge through a co-pyrolysis process under 400-600 \mathbb{C} , and observed metals (Cu, Zn, Pb, Cr, Mn and Ni) were transformed to more stable fractions causing the decrease of toxicity and bioavailability of the residual biochar. Moreover, physico-chemical properties were tested before and after experiments, and the results showed that co-pyrolysis would contribute to higher C content and lower biochar yield. Therefore, the co-pyrolysis technology is considered as a practical method for the disposal of heavy metal contaminated sludge, waste or soil to reduce the risk of toxic metals after land application. Debela et al. (2012) found that the leachability of Cd and Zn were reduced after co-pyrolysis of contaminated soil with biomass at 400 \mathbb{C} . Zhang et al., (2016) pyrolysis chromite-oreprocessing residue (COPR) with rice straw to remediate COPR, and the results showed that the volatile fraction, like CO and H₂, played an important role in Cr (VI) reduction during the co-pyrolysis process.

According to the literature, it is recognized that temperature is a more significant factor than duration time (Valo et al., 2004). In addition, it is also accepted that higher temperature contributes to more efficient treatment (Appels et al., 2010). However, economical budgeting in actual site remediation restrains the practicability of high-temperature co-pyrolysis treatment. Tian et al., (2014) investigated the change of organic compounds during pyrolysis of sewage sludge. The sewage sludge was pyrolyzed from 150 to 800 \mathbb{C} at different heating rates, and the results showed that most gas was produced at 293–383 °C. In addition, the results also reported that cellulose was more stable than lignin and hemicellulose in biomass and its pyrolysis temperature range was 210–320 \mathbb{C} . Considering the carbon sequestration efficiency, low temperature pyrolysis (300 \mathbb{C}) has the potential to produce maximum biochar

yield in the aspect of mass and carbon content (Mohamed et al., 2016). Furthermore, biochar produced at low pyrolysis temperature may contribute to high CEC and surface functional groups (Novak et al., 2009). The existence of aliphatic functional groups during the low temperature pyrolysis process is beneficial to removing inorganic and organic contaminants due to its sorption capacity (Sarmah et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2011).

2.6 Summary

Cr contaminated soil is generated during industrial development, and the remediation of it has been a worldwide concern. Concerning the issue of the contaminated soil, it should be treated or remediated properly due to the risk it may pose to society. It is recognized that removing heavy metals from polluted soils is a difficult mission, so choosing an appropriate remediation technique to limit the harm of Cr is a better alternative (Wuana and Okieimen, 2011). Traditional isolation is a method that only prevents people from contacting with untreated toxicity waste, and it is necessary to monitor the site. Chemical treatment can efficiently remediate polluted sites, but it will contribute to high cost and secondary contaminants. Phytoremediation and bioremediation are methods that can be easily accepted socially by public, but both are time-consuming and need further research to solve existing challenges. In contrast, pyrolysis can efficiently reduce bioavailability of heavy metals and reuse energy generated from biochar during the pyrolysis process. However, using biochars as amendments is still time-consuming and cost-consuming. Therefore, co-pyrolysis seems to be a very promising treatment in terms of effectively and economically reducing toxicity of heavy metals and improving soil quality. According to the literature, only a few researches were done in the remediation of Cr contaminated soil using co-pyrolysis treatment. Hence, Cr

contaminated soil will be co-pyrolyzed with rice straw to immobilize Cr, and then optimal application conditions will be explored in this study.

Chapter 3 Methods and materials

3.1 Soil samples and rice straw preparation

Soil samples used in this study were collected in Shuitou Town, Pingyang, China. This area was highly impacted by tannery wastes, and improperly treated waste and effluents from leather tanning industries have influenced this area for a long time. It was reported that around 9500 tons of Cr-contaminated wastes were produced every year in Shuitou Town (Chen et al., 2012). Soil samples collected in this area were air dried and passed through a 1-mm sieve to remove larger debris. After that, the samples were homogeneously mixed and then stored in sealed plastic bottles at room temperature until use.

Rice straw as a kind of organic material was collected in Tengqiao Town, Wenzhou, China. After collection, the rice straw sample was oven dried, grounded to pass a 1-mm sieve and stored in an airtight container at room temperature.

3.2 Co-pyrolysis reactor

This co-pyrolysis reactor consists of a Parr 4848 Reactor Controller (Parr Instrument Company, Moline, Illinois) and a Series 4530 1L Floor Stand Reactor (Parr Instrument Company, Moline, Illinois) (Figure 3.1). The Reactor Controller brings digital communication to the Floor Stand Reactor. The reactor contains one gas input valve connected to a nitrogen gas cylinder, one gas pressure gauge, a portable 1 L pressure vessel, one gas release valve and one liquid sampling valve. Additional equipment includes a pivoting heating cylinder that is mounted onto the reactor frame and a constant flow of cooling water to protect the heat modules. There are two heating modes programmed in the controller; one of the heating modes is a PID mode controlling the heater output temperature at an adjustable input setpoint and the other mode being a ramp-and-soak mode that is entered to vary the control of soak times, ramp times and set points. This reactor vessel is capable of pressure to 207 bar (2900 psi) and a maximum operating temperature of $350 \mathbb{C}$.



Figure 3.1 Principle parts of the co-pyrolysis reactor: Parr 4848 Reactor Controller (left) and Floor Stand Reactor (right)

3.3 Co-pyrolysis procedures

Prior to the co-pyrolysis reaction, initial tests were conducted to gain familiarity with the equipment and materials. Initial tests were useful in developing the best content amounts of the reactor vessel in later testing. Initial testing yielded the best range of temperatures, rice straw / soil mixing ratios, reaction times, pressures and reactor heating modes to develop an appropriate setting ranges and their impacts on the leaching of Cr.

During the main experiments, 30g of prepared soil samples and initially determined ranges of rice straw were thoroughly mixed, prior to placing into the reactor vessel. Two halves of the split ring were put around the head of the vessel, followed by fastening the split ring latches, and lastly, the tightening of the bolts to the split ring. Once the vessel was sealed, a constant nitrogen flow was used to purge the vessel in the creation of an oxygen free environment. The feedstock mixture was then heated under varied setting conditions, and the heater was removed after the heating cycle is finished to accelerate the cooling of the sample and the vessel. Residual pressure had to be vented into the fume hood before opening the vessel, and an air filter mask should be used due to the chance of foul odours and presence of irritating gas. After the completion of the material processing, the vessel with sample were weighted, the sample removed and stored in an airtight-labeled plastic bag. The soil sample mass remained the same in all the co-pyrolysis treatment runs. Post experimental cleaning of the vessel consisted of filling the reactor vessel with ethyl alcohol followed by a scrubbing with a large test tube brush in preparation for the next treatment.

3.4 Production of co-pyrolyzed char

3.4.1 Char produced at different temperatures

A temperature trial was designed to investigate the effect of co-pyrolysis temperature on the leaching of Cr and the concentration of Cr (VI). The feedstock mixture containing 30 g of soil and 10% of rice straw (mass ratio of rice straw / soil) was used for co-pyrolysis at different temperatures (Table 3.1). To produce co-pyrolyzed char at different temperatures, the controller was set to the assigned temperature, turning on the heating mode. The reaction was retained for 60 minutes once reaching the given temperature. Upon completion of the treatment the heater was removed, and the pressure was released after the vessel cooled down to air temperature. It was theorized that temperature was the key parameter to influence the leaching of Cr and the physical characteristics of produced char. The pressure in the vessel increased with the increasing temperature and the co-pyrolysis process produced as much volatile gas as setting temperature can do. The produced chars after treatments were labelled and stored in an airtight plastic bag. Each temperature test was conducted in duplicates. It should be noted that the reaction time in this study did not include the heating time.

-			Rice straw/soil	Reaction time	
	Sample ID	Soil mass (g)	ratio (%)	(min)	Temperature (C)
_	Untreated	30	NA	NA	NA
	T100	30	10	60	100
	T150	30	10	60	150
	T200	30	10	60	200
	T250	30	10	60	250
	T300	30	10	60	300

Table 3.1 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in the temperature experiments

NA: not applicable.

3.4.2 Char produced at different rice straw/soil ratios

The effect of rice straw addition and its adding amounts were investigated to obtain optimal conditions. Different amounts of rice straw (expressed by rice straw / soil mass mixing ratio) were examined to explore the effects of rice straw addition on reducing the concentration of Cr (VI) and leachable Cr. Therefore, 30 g of soil sample evenly mixed with rice straw at varied ratios (rice straw/soil) was co-pyrolyzed at 200 \mathbb{C} and 300 \mathbb{C} for 60 minutes, respectively (Table 3.2). The soil sample (30g) without the addition of rice straw indicated the effectiveness of pyrolysis treatment and also revealed the efficiency of copyrolysis treatment. The produced chars after treatments were labelled and stored in airtight plastic bags, and each ratio test was conducted in duplicates.

		Rice straw/soil	Reaction time	
Sample ID	Soil mass (g)	(%)	(min)	Temperature (C)
R0-200	30	0	60	200
R5-200	30	5	60	200
R10-200	30	10	60	200
R15-200	30	15	60	200
R20-200	30	20	60	200
R0-300	30	0	60	300
R5-300	30	5	60	300
R10-300	30	10	60	300
R15-300	30	15	60	300
R20-300	30	20	60	300

Table 3.2 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in the rice straw / soil ratio experiments

3.4.3 Char produced at different reaction time

In this study, reaction time was defined as the duration time after reaching the assigned temperature. It is theorized that varied reaction time causes the differences in yields and rates among produced solid, liquid and gas. Hence, the reaction time tests sought to investigate impacts on Cr immobilization based on co-pyrolysis treatment using a mix of material (30g of soil and 10% of rice straw) at the temperature of 300 \mathbb{C} for various reaction time (Table 3.3). The produced chars after treatments were labelled and stored in airtight plastic bags, and each reaction time test was conducted in duplicates.

Sample ID	Soil mass (g)	Rice straw/soil	Reaction time	Temperature (P)
Sample ID		(%)	(min)	remperature (C)
M10	30	10	10	300
M20	30	10	20	300
M30	30	10	30	300
M40	30	10	40	300
M50	30	10	50	300
M60	30	10	60	300

Table 3.3 Feedstock mixture of soil and rice straw used for co-pyrolyzed char materials in the reaction time experiments

3.5 Physicochemical characterization of the char by co-pyrolysis of soil and rice straw

3.5.1 Loss-on-ignition (LOI)

During the co-pyrolysis treatment, components of rice straw, including cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin, were transformed to volatile gas. After the vessel cooling down to room temperature, the co-pyrolyzed char and the vessel were weighted to calculate the LOI. The percentage of LOI was calculated as the following formula:

LOI (%) =
$$\frac{A-C}{A-B} \times 100\%$$
 (1)

where A is the initial weight of feedstock mixture and vessel prior to co-pyrolysis, B is the weight of vessel, and C is the weight of the residual and vessel after co-pyrolysis treatment.

3.5.2 laboratory analyses

3.5.2.1 pH

The pH of char was measured by adding 0.1 M of CaCl₂ solution following the procedure of Kalra and Maynard (1991). 10 g of each sample was placed in a beaker by adding 20 ml of 0.1 M of CaCl₂ solution, and then a glass rod was used to stir every 5 minutes for 30 minutes. Settling for 30 minutes, the electrode of pH meter was immersed into the supernatant solution. It was noted that the pH meter should be calibrated with two buffers (pH 4.0 and 7.0 buffers) and should be checked and recalibrated against buffers before measurement and after 5 samples.

3.5.2.2 Cation exchange capacity (CEC) measurement

According to the pH of soil sample, the sodium acetate solution was chosen as an extracting reagent. The 0.5g of sample was weighted and transferred to a 50-mL, tightly-stoppered centrifuge tube. Each tube was added with 20 mL of 1.0 N NaOAc solution, and then shaken in a mechanical shaker for 5 minutes. The solid and liquid were separated by centrifuge until the supernatant liquid was clear, and the liquid was discarded. This procedure was repeated three more times. Afterwards, 20 mL of 1.0 N NH4OAc solution was added, repeating the shake and centrifuge procedure as before. The supernatant was continuously decanted into a 100 mL volumetric flask until reaching the 100 mL mark, and then determined the concentration of Na⁺ using emission spectroscopy.

3.5.2.3 Organic matter

Organic matter was estimated by weight loss. The porcelain crucibles were heated at $375 \mathbb{C}$ for an hour to remove water and weighted before use. The sample (1 g) was placed in that pre-weighted crucible, heated in a muffle furnace at 600 \mathbb{C} for three hours, then waited
to cool down and weighted. The heating procedure was repeated until the weight without change.

3.5.2.4 pH of Point of Zero Charge (pH_{PZC}).

The initial pH was adjusted using a pH meter to 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 with 0.1 M HNO₃ and 0.1 M NaOH. A 20 mL of different initial pH and 0.5 g of weighted sample was added to a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask. All the Erlenmeyer flasks were shaken in a revolving water bath (25 \mathbb{C}) for 24 h to reach equilibrium. Afterwards, the result pH was measured, and the point of intersection between the initial pH and result pH was the value of pH_{PZC}.

3.5.2.5 The total concentration of Cr

The total concentration of the soil sample and the samples after co-pyrolysis were conducted using microwave digestion. This microwave digestion method was faster, safer, and controlling heating conditions better than conventional digestion methods. Each weighted sample (0.1 g) was transferred into the microwave vessel, and 6 mL of HNO₃, 2 mL of HF and 2 ml of H₂O₂ were added, respectively. Then, the samples were sufficiently digested in the microwave oven (Anton Paar Inc, USA) at 180 \mathbb{C} lasting for 1 h. This procedure was repeated until samples were completely digested, and the concentration of Cr was determined by flame atomic absorption spectrometer (FAAS) (AA800, PerkinElmer, USA).

3.5.3 Leaching test

Taking into consideration that co-pyrolysis treatment was not able to reduce or extract the Cr from contaminated soil, the mobile amount of Cr could be measured to indicate the effectiveness of the remediation. Therefore, a batch synthetic precipitation leaching procedure (SPLP) (US EPA, 1994) was conducted on the samples to assess the efficiency of

28

the co-pyrolysis treatment on Cr immobilization in the contaminated soil. SPLP with minor modification was followed in this test (US EPA 1994). The pyrolyzed samples (2 g of each) were filled into glass jars and mixed with 40 mL leaching solution (a 60/40 mix of H₂SO₄ and HNO₃ diluted with double deionized water to pH of 4.2 ± 0.05). The samples were then shaken for 18 h using a horizontal shaker and filtered through a 0.45 µm membrane filter. The filtrate was acidified with HNO₃ to pH < 2.0 and the concentration of Cr in the leachate was determined by flame atomic absorption spectrometer (AA800, PerkinElmer, USA).

3.5.4 The concentration of total Cr(VI)

It was essential to determine the content of Cr(VI) before and after co-pyrolysis treatment, since the reduction of Cr(VI) could more directly assess the efficiency of the copyrolysis treatment on Cr immobilization. Although measuring the amount of Cr(VI) in aqueous solution was an easy way, the total concentration of Cr(VI) in solid could be more accurate and direct indicating decreased toxicity of Cr. Therefore, the concentration of total Cr(VI) was conducted according to the method US EPA 3060A. A 2.5 g of pyrolyzed char was digested using 50mL alkaline extracting solution (a mix of 20 g of NaOH and 30 g of NaCO₃ diluted with double deionized water to 1 L in a volumetric flask) in a 250mL Erlenmeyer flask, and mixed with approximately 400 mg of MgCl₂ and 0.5 mL of 1.0 M phosphate buffer. The mixture was heated at 90-95 € for 90 min with continuous stirring, and then transferred to the filtration apparatus that a 0.45 µm membrane filter was used for filtration after cooling down to room temperature. The filtrate was adjusted to pH 7.5 with the addition of 5.0 M HNO₃ and diluted to 100 mL with double deionized water. Any flocculent precipitate formed should be filtered before dilution. The total Cr(VI) in dissolved filtrate was determined colorimetrically by reaction with diphenylcarbazide (US EPA 7196A). 2 mL of diphenylcarbazide solution was mixed with the filtrate and the pH was adjusted to 2 ± 0.5 . The mixture was then diluted to 100 ml and placed 10 min for full color development. An appropriate portion of the solution was transferred to a 1-cm absorption cell and measured at 540 nm for its absorbance. Both soluble and insoluble matrix spikes were used as quality control to ensure the accuracy of the extraction procedure.

3.5.5 BCR sequential extraction experiments

The bioavailability and toxicity of Cr could be indicated by its chemical speciation (Huang and Yuan, 2016), and this could be determined by BCR sequential extraction scheme (Chen et al., 2008). Although BCR sequential extraction experiment was a chemical method which may not provide accurate Cr speciation in the soil, it was still useful for monitoring the relative Cr species change, as a consequence of co-pyrolysis treatment. Therefore, the Cr in the samples before and after co-pyrolysis treatment was sequentially extracted referring to the modified three-step BCR method proposed by Rauret et al. (1999). Through BCR sequential extraction, the fractions of Cr were divided into four categories: exchangeable and acid-soluble (F1), reducible (F2), oxidizable (F3), and residual (F4) fractions. F1 and F2 were more mobile fractions because they were very prone to be uptake by plants or leaching in water. F3 was identified as potential toxic species due to its rigorous requirements for degradation and F4 was usually recognized as non-bioavailable and relatively stable species (Devi and Saroha, 2014; Fuentes et al., 2008). Due to the high concentration of Cr in the soil, small dry mass of samples (0.2 g of each sample) were extracted in centrifuge tubes with the corresponding extracting solutions. The detailed extraction procedures were described below.

In step 1, 0.2 g of sample was transferred to centrifuge tube and mixed with 40 mL of acetic acid (0.11 mol l^{-1}), shaken overnight. The tube was then centrifuged, and the extract

30

was isolated and stored in a refrigerator at 4 °C for analysis. In step 2, 40 mL of hydroxylamine hydrochloride (0.5 mol 1^{-1}) was added to the residue of step 1, and then the suspension liquid was extracted as described in step 1. In step 3, 10 mL of hydrogen peroxide was carefully added to the residue of step 2 and digested at room temperature for 1 h with occasional manual shaking, before digesting at 85 ± 2 °C in a water bath. When hydrogen peroxide was evaporated to less than 3 mL, this procedure was repeated with further addition of 10 mL hydrogen peroxide. The samples were then heated to nearly dry and cooled down to room temperature. The extraction was continued with the addition of 50 mL of ammonium acetate (1.0 mol 1^{-1}) and separated the extract as in step 1. In step 4, the residue from step 3 was transferred to microwave vessels and digested, and the Cr concentration was determined following the same procedure described in Section 3.5.2.5.

3.5.6 Time-varying desorption kinetics

To further investigate the Cr release by different extractants, time-varying desorption experiments were conducted. Three different kinds of extractants (organic acid, inorganic acid, contrastive extractant) were used in this test, and these extractants had different impacts on Cr release. Extractants included organic acid (10 mmol L⁻¹ citric acid), inorganic acid (10 mmol L⁻¹ nitric acid), and contrastive extractant (10 mmol L⁻¹ CaCl₂). Citric acid, which is commonly present in the rhizosphere soil due to the decomposition of plants and animal residue, has the ability to accelerate the dissolution and bioavailability of heavy metals (Han et al., 2004; Lim et al., 2004). Nitric acid is from the decomposition of microbial metabolites, and CaCl₂ was chosen as a contrastive extractant because it is similar with soil solutions. 1 g of sample was mixed with 20 ml corresponding extractant, and equilibrated at 25 \mathbb{C} for 0.5, 1, 4, 15, 27, 45, 60, and 76 h. All the samples were centrifuged and collected for analysis by FAAS. The desorption Cr in the samples was described as pseudo-first-order (Eq. 2) or pseudo-second-order (Eq. 3) kinetic equations:

$$\log(q_e - q_t) = \log q_e - \frac{k_1 t}{2.303}$$
(2)

$$\frac{\mathrm{t}}{\mathrm{q}_{\mathrm{t}}} = \frac{1}{\mathrm{k}_{2}\mathrm{q}_{\mathrm{e}}^{2}} + \frac{\mathrm{t}}{\mathrm{q}_{\mathrm{e}}} \tag{3}$$

where: q_e was the equilibrium amount of released Cr; q_t was the concentration of Cr released at time t; k_1 and k_2 are the rate constant of pseudo-first-order and pseudo-second-order, respectively.

3.5.7 Bioaccessibility of Cr

In this study, bioaccessibility was referred to the concentration of Cr that would potentially be adsorbed by gastrointestinal system. Although BCR sequential extraction was determined to explore the Cr species and potential bioavailable Cr, it still did not provide a direct and good indication of human bioaccessibility. For many decades, numerous researches were performed to explore the fraction of potential toxic elements in soil which could be uptake by plants or crops (Kisku et al., 2000). However, metals in the urban soil could be easily transferred to human especially children through ingestion, breathing or skin contact. Ljung et al. (2006) found that it was a common behavior for children aged 18 months to 2 years ingesting soil through hand-to-mouth activity. Therefore, scientists tried to develop simple extraction tests involved in simulating gastrointestinal tract fluids at physiological pH and temperature (Wragg and Cave, 2003). Although many in vitro chemical extraction methods were developed to assess the metal bioaccessibility, such as HCl extractions, Relative Bioaccessibility Leaching Procedure (RBALP), Simple Bioaccessibility Extraction Test (SBET) and Physiologically Based Extraction Test (PBET) (Izquierdo et al., 2015), the SBET and PBET were methods commonly used in the literatures (Meunier et al., 2011; Luo et al., 2012). It was reported that the content of bioavailable metal in the gastric phase determined by the SBET method was in agreement with that in the same phase measured by PBET (Oomen et al., 2002; Poggio et al., 2009). Although these methods simulating gastrointestinal conditions could not be recognized as accurate conditions in the gastrointestinal system, the data obtained could also present valuable data for risk assessments.

In this study, the bioaccessibilities of Cr in the samples were determined following the SBET method, which was an in vitro leaching procedure designed to assess the amount of absorbed metals in the stomach digestive system in humans (Ruby et al., 1999). The extracting solution was glycine (0.4 mol L⁻¹) adjusted to pH 1.5 with HNO₃, which was used to simulate the most aggressive human gastric system. 0.2 g of sample with the addition of 20 mL prepared glycine solution was placed in a rotating horizontal shaker at $37 \pm 2 \mathbb{C}$ to simulate stomach mixing. After 1 h, each mixture was centrifuged, and supernatant was collected for analysis by FAAS.

3.5.8 Characterization of char samples

The specific surface area, pore volume and pore diameter of samples under different heating conditions were determined by the Brunauer–Emmett–Teller (BET) method using a BELSORP-max (BEL Japan, Inc.). 0.2 g of dried sample was heated for 3 h at 573K under evacuation before measurement and was analyzed through nitrogen adsorption isotherms at 77K. Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) analysis of the samples was measured by a Bruker Tensor 27 FTIR spectrophotometer (Bruker Corporation, Billerica, USA). The dried sample (1 mg) was pressed with 100 mg dried potassium bromide (KBr), and signal beam was recorded within 4000-400 cm⁻¹ wavelength range to determine functional groups. The surface morphology and mineral component of chars before and after co-pyrolysis were studied by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) using a XFlash 6T | 30 (Bruker Corporation, Billerica, USA) and X-ray diffraction (XRD) using a Bruker D8 Advance (Bruker Corporation, Billerica, USA).

3.5.9 Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed with the software SPSS. Analysis of variance (oneway ANOVA) was conducted to compare the changes of different co-pyrolysis treatments. Where significant p-value were lower than 0.05, differences between individual means were tested using the least significant difference (LSD) test.

Chapter 4 Results and discussion

4.1 Initial test results

Initial tests were conducted to explore the impacts of different conditions (temperatures, rice straw / soil ratios, reaction time, pressures and reactor heating modes) on the leaching of Cr, and the results were shown in Table 4.1. Compared to I5 (ramp-and-soak mode), I3 conducted in PID mode was more effective in reducing Cr leaching. Also considering the less time and energy cost, PID mode was selected in the following study. All pyrolysis treatments, with or without rice straw addition, showed no significant changes (P > 0.05) in Cr leaching with increasing initial pressures. For example, there was no significant change of Cr in leachates between I3 and I1 treatment, and no significant difference between I10 and I13 treatments. However, at different pyrolysis temperatures, rice straw addition and reaction time were found to be influential to the leaching of Cr. For instance, the concentration of Cr leaching in I12 and I8 reduced from 25.47 mg kg⁻¹ to 7.71 mg kg⁻¹ with the temperature increase from 200 € to 300 €. Compared to I3, the Cr leaching in I8 declined about 50 % with the addition of 20 % rice straw, from 14.45 mg kg⁻¹ to 7.71 mg kg⁻¹. Moreover, with the pyrolysis reaction time increase, the concentration of Cr in leachates increased from 11.29 mg kg⁻¹ to 14.45 mg kg⁻¹, which was the opposite trend from what was expected. Therefore, the parameters of temperature, rice straw addition ratio and reaction time were chosen to explore the impacts to the leaching and speciation of Cr.

Sample	Description	Temperature	Initial pressure	Reaction	Leached Cr [#]
ID		(C)	(MPa)	time (min)	$(\mathrm{mg}\mathrm{kg}^{-1})$
I1			1.5	60	14.52±0.39
I2	30 g soil	300	1	60	13.91±0.74
I3	50 g 501	500	0.5	60	14.45±1.50
I4			0.5	40	11.29±2.21
15	30 g soil (ramp-	300	0.5	60	15.67±0.63
	and-soak mode*)				
I6			1.5		7.56±0.28
I7	30 g soil, 20% rice	300	1	60	6.48±0.56
I8	straw	500	0.5	00	7.71±1.97
I9			0.11		7.04 ± 0.08
I10			1.5		26.89±0.80
I11	30 g soil, 20% rice	200	1	60	26.56±1.27
I12	straw	200	0.5	00	25.47±2.54
I13			0.11		27.01±2.49

Table 4.1 Initial test results for exploring optimal conditions

* Ramp-and-soak mode could set soak times, ramp time and setting points, and it was used for sample I3 only. All the other samples were tested in PID mode, which could reach setting temperature as soon as possible.

[#] SPLP test was conducted to determine the concentration of leachate Cr.

4.2 Results of loss-on-ignition (LOI)

The LOI value of the samples under different pyrolysis temperature was shown in Table 4.2. It was obvious that the mass loss of ignition increased (P < 0.05) with elevated pyrolysis temperature due to the volatilization of organic matter, and LOI increased rapidly around 200 °C. Theoretically, pyrolysis of rice straw could be divided into three phases, i.e., moisture evaporation (temperature $< 200 \ \mathbb{C}$), main devolatilization (temperature 200– 350 °C), and continuous devolatilization (temperature > 350 °C) (Zhang et al., 2009). Results indicated that the loss of mass at temperatures of 100-150 °C may be due to water transforming to a gaseous phase, and rapid increase of LOI above 200 °C may have resulted largely from decomposition of hemicellulose and cellulose (Zhang et al., 2009). Ahmad et al (2014) also found ash content increased with the increasing temperature and indicated that was mainly due to the removal of organics in the alkaline minerals and organic matter. The LOI of chars produced at different feedstock ratios were summarized in Table 4.3, and a similar trend as LOI of chars produced at different temperatures was found. As the addition ratio of rice straw rose from 0 % to 20 %, the mass loss of the char increased after pyrolysis treatments (Table 4.3), while longer reaction time did not significantly influence the LOI value (P>0.05) (Table 4.4). This was in accordance with the previous explanation that rice straw would transfer to gas during pyrolysis treatments and the elevated addition of rice straw would increase the percentage of volatile organic matter.

Somelo ID	Descriptions	Reaction	Co-pyrolysis		
Sample ID	Descriptions	time (min)	temperature (\mathbb{C})	LOI (%)	
Untreated	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	NA	NA	
T100	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	100	3.64±0.43	
T150	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	150	3.94±0.56	
T200	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	200	6.67±0.82	
T250	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	250	8.79±1.29	
T300	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	300	10.0±0.95	

Table 4.2 LOI of different temperature produced char

*Addition of rice straw was based on the mass of soil, i.e., 3 g rice straw was 10 % of 30 g soil.

Sample ID	Descriptions	Reaction	Co-pyrolysis	IOI(%)
Sumple ID	Descriptions	time (min)	temperature (\mathbb{C})	LO1 (70)
R0-200	30g soil, 0% rice straw	60	200	3.67±0.31
R5-200	30g soil, 5% rice straw	60	200	6.19±0.00
R10-200	30g soil, 10% rice straw	60	200	6.67±0.12
R15-200	30g soil, 15% rice straw	60	200	8.86±0.97
R20-200	30g soil, 20% rice straw	60	200	8.06±0.64
R0-300	30g soil, 0% rice straw	60	300	5.33±0.09
R5-300	30g soil, 5% rice straw	60	300	7.30±0.49
R10-300	30g soil, 10% rice straw	60	300	10.0±0.95
R15-300	30g soil, 15% rice straw	60	300	11.30±0.07
R20-300	30g soil, 20% rice straw	60	300	12.22±0.33

Table 4.3 LOI of different ratio of rice straw produced char

a 1 m	- · · ·	Reaction	Co-pyrolysis	LOI (%)	
Sample ID	Descriptions	time (min)	temperature ($\mathbb C$)		
M10	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	10	300	8.79±0.44	
M20	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	20	300	8.48±0.26	
M30	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	30	300	9.39±0.01	
M40	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	40	300	8.79±0.52	
M50	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	50	300	9.09±0.01	
M60	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	60	300	10.0±0.95	
M90	30g soil, 3g* rice straw	90	300	9.85±0.00	

Table 4.4 LOI of different reaction time produced char

*Addition of rice straw was based on the mass of soil, i.e., 3 g rice straw was 10 % of 30 g soil.

4.3 **Properties of selected samples**

The properties of soil sample and representative co-pyrolyzed chars in this study were shown in Table 4.5. The total Cr of the untreated soil sample was 36433.20 mg kg⁻¹, which indicated this soil was highly contaminated by Cr. A little increase was found in soil pyrolyzed at 300 \mathbb{C} without rice straw addition due to the loss of water and organic matter. However, the amount of total Cr slightly decreased while the Cr-contaminated soil was pyrolyzed with rice straw at 300 \mathbb{C} . This soil was slightly alkaline at pH 7.95 and an increase in pH of the soil (P < 0.05) was found after pyrolysis at 300 \mathbb{C} for 60 min. With the addition of rice straw to the soil sample, the pH value was increased from 8.31 to 8.49 (P < 0.05). This increasing trend in pH could be explained that alkali salts were separated from the organic matrix after pyrolysis treatment (Maiti et al., 2006). A higher pH value is more likely to restrain heavy metal release. Another possible reason may be that amine functionalities

transformed into pyridine-like compounds and acidic surface functional groups decreased with the increasing temperature (Chen et al., 2014). Moreover, a highly positive correlation between pH value and pyrolysis temperature was reported (Jin et al., 2016). The CEC is usually used to describe the potential of samples to reversibly adsorb positively charged species (Brewer et al., 2011). In this study, the CEC of untreated soil sample was 189.739 cmol/kg and that of co-pyrolyzed chars rose (P < 0.05) to 199.032 cmol/kg in R0-300 and 201.901 cmol/kg in R10-300. However, the differences of CEC between R0-300 and R10-300 were not significant (P > 0.05). Similar results were found by Houben et al., (2013) who observed a slight increase in CEC with the increase of added biochar. In addition, the increase value of CEC with the increased pyrolysis temperature may be caused by the elevated concentration of cationic elements, which were not volatile during the process (Al-Wabel et al., 2013; Bandara et al., 2017). Higher CEC is helpful to adsorb and retain cations (e.g. Mg^{2+} , k^+ , Ca^{2+}) and enhance the nutrient holding capacity of the soil. As expected, the content of organic matter was notably decreased (P < 0.05) from 17.87% to 10.76% after pyrolysis treatment, and this phenomenon was due to the decomposition and conversion of organic matter at high pyrolysis temperature. It was also noteworthy that organic matter in sample R10-300 was a little more than that in R0-300, which was likely led by the addition of rice straw. Compared to untreated soil, the specific surface area and total pore volume in R0-300 and R10-300 reduced, while the mean pore diameter increased. Similar results were observed by Huang et al. (2017) who found the addition of rice straw during the pyrolysis of sewage sludge slightly decreased the surface area, pore size and pore volume of pyrolyzed chars. The reason of this phenomenon could be the production of ash and oil. Song and Guo (2012) also found low BET surface areas in poultry litter biochar because of ash filling or blocking pores of biochar. In addition, Cetin et al. (2005) found the effects of pressure to the pore structure of produced char. Therefore, the pressure (0.5 MPa) applied in this study may be one of the reasons for increased pore diameter. Moreover, higher temperature could widen micropore to mesopore or macropore due to the dehydration and aromatization of the carbon skeleton, which would reduce surface area (Zhao et al., 2017). The value of pH_{PZC} in raw soil sample was 9.40, and it increased a little after pyrolysis at 300°C. Besides, the value of pH_{PZC} also grew in R10-300 with the addition of rice straw, and the pH_{PZC} of each sample was substantially above the initial pH. Uchimiya et al. (2011) reported that increasing pyrolysis temperature contributed to higher values of pH_{PZC} , which was in accordance with the results in this study.

Sample ID	Total Cr (mg kg ⁻¹)	рН	CEC (cmol kg ⁻¹)	Organic matter (%)	pH _{PZC}	BET (m ² g ⁻¹)	Total pore volume (cm ³ g ⁻¹)	Mean pore diameter (nm)
Untreated	36433.20±6728.79	7.95±0.01 [a]	189.74±0.96 [a]	17.87±0.00 [a]	9.40	39.02	0.093	9.53
R0-300*	37957.18±6902.63	8.31±0.03 [b]	199.03±2.23 [b]	10.76±0.01 [b]	9.42	22.53	0.076	13.53
R10-300 [#]	36298.80±7294.19	8.49±0.01 [c]	201.90±6.66 [b]	12.25±0.01 [b]	9.65	18.01	0.076	16.82

	Table 4.5 Properties	$(mean \pm standard deviation)$	of the soil sample ar	nd representative samples
--	----------------------	---------------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------

* 30 g of soil sample was pyrolyzed at 300° for 60 min without the addition of rice straw.

 $^{\scriptscriptstyle\#}$ 30 g of soil sample was co-pyrolyzed with 3g rice straw at 300°C $\,$ for 60 min.

In each column, means followed by same letter were not significant (p>0.05).

4.4 **Results of SPLP**

Co-pyrolysis temperature is a key parameter affecting the behavior of rice straw and thus subsequently influences the leaching of Cr after co-pyrolysis treatments. The results of the SPLP test for Cr in the soil samples after co-pyrolysis with 10 % of rice straw under different temperatures were shown in the Figure 4.1. It was noteworthy that the Cr leaching amounts in the untreated soil sample was very high (166.30 mg kg⁻¹), which could be ascribed to the fact that the soil sample collected was highly impacted by tannery wastes. As expected, the leaching of Cr in the co-pyrolyzed residues was found to be at least three times lower compared with that in the untreated soil sample and significantly decreased (P < 0.05) with elevated co-pyrolysis temperature. Besides, the leachable Cr was decreased (about 81 %) by increasing temperature from 100 °C to 300 °C. When the pyrolysis temperature increased from 100 \mathbb{C} to 150 \mathbb{C} , a significant decline (p<0.05) in Cr leaching was observed in the soil sample with 10 % rice straw addition. Figure 4.2 presented the concentration of leachable Cr in soil co-pyrolyzed with different ratios of rice straw. Overall, the leaching of Cr in pyrolyzed chars, with or without rice straw, was lower (decreased up to 95 %) than untreated soil sample (166.30 mg kg⁻¹). Considering pyrolysis of soil sample without rice straw addition, the leachable Cr decreased from 19.51 mg kg⁻¹ to 14.45 mg kg⁻¹ with the temperature increase from 200 ℃ to 300 ℃. All co-pyrolysis treatments at 200 ℃ with different amounts of rice straw addition were found to have an obvious fluctuation in Cr leaching. This phenomenon may be due to incomplete devolatilization of rice straw at 200 $\mathbb C$, causing various impacts in Cr leaching. By contrast, increasing the addition of rice straw in co-pyrolysis treatment at 300 \mathbb{C} could significantly decrease (P < 0.05) the level of Cr (up to 47%) in leachates.

According to initial test results (Table 4.1), the Cr leaching level in I4 (11.29 mg kg⁻¹) was less than that in I3 (14.45 mg kg⁻¹). Hence, reaction time experiments were conducted to explore an appropriate reaction time for reducing the leaching of Cr, and the results were shown in Figure 4.3. The extension of the reaction time during the co-pyrolysis of soil and 10% rice straw did not give obvious alleviation of the Cr leaching. In other words, there was a slight increase of the Cr leaching when reaction time was within 40 min, but the leaching of Cr in 60 min was similar with that in 10 min. This may be due to the complete devolatilization of added rice straw before the temperature reaching at 300 \mathbb{C} , and afterwards longer reaction time did not have significant effects on Cr leaching.

According to the Identification Standards for Hazardous Wastes-Identification for Extraction Toxicity in China (GB5085.3-2007), the leaching of Cr in this study was far below the allowable Cr leaching concentration (15 mg L⁻¹). For example, 166.30 mg kg⁻¹ of leachable Cr in untreated soil is equivalent to 8.25 mg L⁻¹ of Cr in the corresponding leachate. It was also reported by Zhou et al. (2018) that the total concentration of Cr was high but lower in the leachate. The decrease of leachable Cr after co-pyrolysis treatments could be ascribed to the degradation of organic matter and the formation of undissolved compounds with calcium, copper and alkali. Overall, the soluble Cr was transferred to more stable and insoluble forms after co-pyrolysis treatments (Gao et al., 2017). The results of SPLP leaching tests indicated that temperature played an important role in reducing the leaching of Cr and the rice straw addition at a higher co-pyrolysis temperature (300 \mathbb{C}) could significantly reduce the leachable Cr that harms the environment.



Figure 4.1 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% of rice straw under different temperatures (n=4, p < 0.05). Means followed by similar letter were not significant different (P>0.05).



Figure 4.2 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis under 200 ℂ and 300 ℂ at various ratios of rice straw (n=4). Means followed by similar letter or no letter were not significant different (P>0.05).



Figure 4.3 SPLP of Cr in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% rice straw under 300 degree at various reaction time (n=4, p>0.05)

4.5 Total contents of Cr(VI)

Figure 4.4 showed the total contents of Cr(VI) in the mixture of Cr contaminated soil and rice straw co-pyrolyzed at different temperatures. The content of Cr(VI) in the untreated soil was 407.5 mg kg⁻¹, which was not surprising due to the high concentration of total Cr in this soil sample. Compared to Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines (CCME, 1999), the content of Cr(VI) in this study was about 1018 times higher than the criteria (0.4 mg kg⁻¹) of Cr(VI) in soil used for agriculture. It can be seen from the figure that the Cr(VI) content significantly decreased (73%) (P<0.05) from 267.8 mg kg⁻¹ to 73.0 mg kg⁻¹ when temperature increased from 100 \mathbb{C} to 300 \mathbb{C} . This trend was in agreement with the results observed by Zhang et al. (2009) who found high pyrolysis temperature had beneficial effects in Cr(VI) reduction, and explained it in triplicate ways: (1) volatilization of more organic compounds; (2) more reaction between the Cr(VI) and organic compounds; (3) gaseous organic matter diffusion in the sample. Comparing temperature of $100 \mathbb{C}$ to $150 \mathbb{C}$, the reduction of Cr(VI) was not significant. The former phenomenon may correspond to the previous results that LOI decreased slowly at temperatures below $150 \mathbb{C}$ due to moisture evaporation, which resulted in an insignificant reduction of Cr(VI).

The total content of Cr(VI) with the different addition ratio of rice straw were shown in Figure 4.5. Without the addition of rice straw, the total concentration of Cr (VI) was lower than that in untreated soil (407.5 mg kg⁻¹), which indicated that only pyrolysis of soil without the additive could efficiently reduce Cr (VI). On the whole, all pyrolysis treatments at 300 \mathbb{C} , with or without rice straw addition, resulted in less content of Cr(VI) as compared to all pyrolysis treatments at 200 \mathbb{C} . Furthermore, the effect of rice straw addition in Cr(VI) reduction (52%) at 200 \mathbb{C} was more obvious than that at 300 \mathbb{C} (33%). The results were in agreement with Zhang et al. (2016) who found the increase of cellulose contributed to the elevated Cr(VI) reduction percentage (CRP). They also reported that the addition of rice straw could increase the amount of volatile organic fraction, which was helpful to reduce Cr(VI), until a high rice straw ratio was obtained. A further increase in the ratio had little impacts on Cr(VI) reduction.

As shown in Figure 4.6, the reduction of Cr(VI) fluctuated with increasing pyrolysis reaction time, and the reaction time did not show significant effects on the Cr(VI) reduction. This was not in agreement with the results observed by Zhang et al. (2016) who found the CRP increased with longer reaction time, and it increased sharply from 1 min to 5 min. The reason could be the competition of Cr(VI) reduction during the temperature-rise period.

Overall, pyrolyzed soil without the addition of rice straw decreased Cr(VI) by 34 % and 79 % in R0-200 and R0-300, respectively. With the synergistic effect of rice straw addition, the Cr(VI) content decreased by up to 86% in R20-300 compared to untreated soil.

Both increased pyrolysis temperature and rice straw addition could effectively transform Cr(VI) to Cr(III). As already mentioned, the pH value increased after co-pyrolysis treatment, which may be caused by the release of acidic surface groups such as -COOH and -OH and carbonates formation (CaCO₃ and MgCO₃) during pyrolysis (Méndez et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2014). Wang et al. (2015) reported that electrostatic interaction between Cr(VI) ions and acidic oxygen-containing functional groups could facilitate Cr(VI) adsorption and help reach equilibrium in a short period. Additionally, volatilized organic matter reacting with Cr(VI) could also effectively reduce Cr(VI) amounts (Zhang et al., 2009).



Figure 4.4 The concentration of Cr(VI) in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% of rice straw under different temperature (n=2, p<0.05). Means followed by similar letter were not significant different (P>0.05).



Figure 4.5 The concentration of Cr(VI) in the soil after co-pyrolysis under 300 \mathbb{C} and 200 \mathbb{C} at various ratios of rice straw (n=2). Means followed by similar letter or no letter were not significant different (P>0.05).



Figure 4.6 The concentration of Cr(VI) in the soil after co-pyrolysis with 10% rice straw under 300 ℃ at various reaction time (n=2, p>0.05)

4.6 BCR results

The distribution of Cr in the four BCR fractions in the untreated soil and co-pyrolyzed samples were shown in Figure 4.7(a, b and c). It was reported that the mobilization of Cr fraction decreased in the following order: F1 > F2 > F3 > F4 (Huang and Yuan, 2016). As shown in the figures, it could be easily noticed that the most Cr was in the form of the F4 fraction, which accounted for more than 80 % of total concentration of Cr in all the untreated and treated samples. Meanwhile, the F2 fraction was relatively high compared to F1 and F3 in untreated soil (Figure 4.7a). Although the percentage of F1 was low (< 2%), the concentration of Cr in this fraction was still high due to the high concentration of total Cr. It was obvious that all pyrolysis treatments without the addition of rice straw (R0-200 and R0-300) were found to cause a slight decrease in F1 and F2 fractions compared to that in the untreated soil sample. As expected, a sharp decrease occurred in the mobile fractions (F1+F2) after conversion of the untreated soil to pyrolyzed char via co-pyrolysis soil with rice straw (Figure 4.7a). Moreover, higher pyrolysis temperature also revealed lower F1 and F2 fractions. The former trend suggested that the relative unstable Cr species were immobilized by pyrolysis treatment, and the later trend indicated that the directly toxic forms of Cr (F1+F2) decreased with increasing co-pyrolysis temperature. A slight decrease in the mobile fractions (F1 and F2) was observed in the samples treated with increasing addition of rice straw at 300 °C (Figure 4.7b).

In summary, all the samples were found with lower Cr contents in the mobile fractions (F1+F2) as a result of pyrolysis treatment. Generally, addition of rice straw and co-pyrolysis with the soil led to further transformation of Cr to more stable forms. Co-pyrolysis temperature played a crucial role in reducing the mobilization of Cr in the samples.

50



Figure 4.7 Fractions of Cr in untreated and co-pyrolyzed soil samples by BCR analysis (F1, exchangeable and acid-soluble fraction; F2, reducible fraction; F3, oxidizable fraction; F4, residual fraction), (a) different reaction time, (b) different addition ratios of rice straw at 300 ℃

4.7 Time-varying desorption kinetics

The amount of Cr released from selected representative samples using three different extractants (citric acid, nitric acid and CaCl₂) were presented in Figure 4.8. For all the samples, the rate of Cr desorption was fast in the first 15 h, followed by a slow approach to equilibrium. Generally, desorption amount of Cr in untreated soil after approaching equilibrium was around 21 times higher using nitric acid, 3 times higher using citric acid and 12 times higher using CaCl₂ than those in the treated samples (R0-300 and R10-300), respectively. Meanwhile, there were significant difference (P<0.05) between Cr release before and after pyrolysis treatments. Compared to R0-300, the release of Cr in R10-300 was slightly higher when extracting by citric acid and nitric acid, while it was opposite in the presence of CaCl₂.

Pseudo-first-order and pseudo-second-order kinetic models were then fitted to the data to elucidate the time-dependent release of Cr with time and desorption mechanism of chars before and after treatment (Table 4.6). The linear plot of $log(q_e-q_t)$ against t presented a relationship where k1 and q_e were determined by the slope and the intercept, respectively. Another linear plot of t/q_t against t could also obtain k_2 through the slope and calculate the q_e through the intercept. The values of k_1 , k_2 , q_e , and correlation coefficients R^2 were shown in Table 4.6, and it was obvious that pseudo-second order kinetic model fitted better in all samples ($R^2 > 0.9$). Among the three different extractants, Cr showed the most release in untreated soil ($q_e = 357.14 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$) when extracted by citric acid. The q_e of the Cr from untreated soil was 270.27 mg kg⁻¹ and 227.27 mg kg⁻¹ using nitric acid and CaCl₂, respectively. When extracted by citric acid, the equilibrium amount of released Cr in all the samples were higher than those extracted by nitric acid and CaCl₂, especially in pyrolyzed chars, which were up to about 7 times higher than those extracted by other extractants. Qin et

al. (2004) also found that organic acids could desorb heavy metals from the soil more efficiently than inorganic salt (CaCl₂). The value of k_2 increased with the pyrolysis treatment and rice straw addition, as well as in the presence of nitric acid compared to citric acid and CaCl₂. This indicated that pyrolyzed chars were more likely to reach equilibrium in a shorter time when extracted by nitric acid. Compared to R10-300, R0-300 had lower q_e in nitric acid and citric acid, but it had less resistance to Cr desorption due to higher k_2 in all three extractants in this study. These results suggested that Cr adsorbed in R10-300 was relatively closely, and the mobility of Cr tended to be less after this co-pyrolysis treatment.

Overall, the maximum Cr was released by the extraction of citric acid. The citric acid, as a kind of organic acids, had a strong ability to complex or chelate metals causing them to leach in greater concentrations (Townsend et al., 2004). In addition, citric acid had higher molecular weight and more functional groups, which were helpful to complex Cr (Jing et al., 2007). Therefore, citric acid had a noticeable influence on the leaching of Cr. Jean-Soro et al. (2012) investigated the column leaching of soil contaminated with Cr and Ni using citric acid and EDTA, and the results showed that citric acid leached more Cr than EDTA. Compared to untreated soil, pyrolyzed chars had lower amounts of Cr release, which was in agreement with the results of SPLP. It was also depicted that the release of Cr from R0-300 and R10-300 did not show much difference in nitric acid, but lower Cr release was found in R10-300 while using CaCl₂.





Figure 4.8 Amount of Cr released from untreated and treated samples using different extractants, (a) citric acid, (b) nitric acid, (c) CaCl₂ solution

Table 4.6 Pseudo-first-order and Pseudo-second-order kinetic equation parameters for the release of Cr from selected representative samples using three different extractants (nitric acid, citric acid and CaCl₂ solution)

Extractants	Sample ID	Pseudo-first-order		Pseudo-second-order			
		q _e	\mathbf{k}_1	R ²	q _e	k ₂	R ²
	Untreated	247.21	1.023	0.607	270.27	0.002	0.987
Nitric acid	R0-300	11.46	2.295	0.804	11.52	1.538	0.999
	R10-300	11.42	0.599	0.575	12.58	0.059	0.987
	Untreated	312.40	1.763	0.731	357.14	0.001	0.997
Citric acid	R0-300	83.98	1.040	0.938	84.75	0.008	0.992
	R10-300	85.72	0.975	0.796	95.24	0.005	0.993
	Untreated	195.61	1.362	0.700	227.27	0.003	0.995
CaCl ₂	R0-300	15.94	0.774	0.848	16.34	0.074	0.996
	R10-300	12.62	0.550	0.846	12.99	0.056	0.993

4.8 Content of bioaccessible Cr

The results of the SBET for Cr bioaccessibility in the untreated soil and co-pyrolyzed chars were shown in Figure 4.9. Compared to untreated soil, the bioaccessibility of Cr in pyrolyzed samples decreased significantly, and it also declined approximately 70 % from 1176.6 mg kg⁻¹ in raw soil sample to 358.1 mg kg⁻¹ in R20-300. Considering temperature effects on bioaccessible Cr, the results were found to significantly decrease as the temperature rose from 100 °C to 300 °C. For example, the amounts of bioaccessible Cr dropped from 825.9 mg kg⁻¹ (T100) to 544.8 mg kg⁻¹ (R10-200) and then to 401.6 mg kg⁻¹ (R10-300). On the contrary, the ratio of rice straw addition did not reflect the great differences among co-pyrolyzed chars. The data in the figure only revealed a slight decrease with the increase of rice straw addition. Therefore, the dominance of temperature on the bioaccessible Cr was suggested and the study presented some valuable data for risk assessment. Houben et al. (2013) reported that the environmental risk of soil which was inherent to heavy metals were mainly dependent on their bioaccessible contents. Although many researches were conducted to explore the bioavailability of Cr using BCR extraction, little researches were done to determine the effect of pyrolysis to the bioaccessible Cr based on SBET test.



Sample with different treatments

Figure 4.9 Bioavailable content of Cr in different treated samples by a SBET method

4.9 Characterization of pyrolyzed chars (SEM, XRD and FTIR)

The SEM results were shown below (Figure 4.10, Figure 4.11, Figure 4.12 and Figure 4.13) for comparing the differences of the morphology between raw soil sample and copyrolyzed samples. The SEM images were taken at 500X, 2000X, 5000X and 10000 X magnification for further exploring the surface morphology and pore structure. It was obvious that the surface morphology of soil sample before (Figure 4.10) and after pyrolysis treatment (Figure 4.11) were different. Upon pyrolysis treatments, surface coatings were observed on the soil sample. The SEM images also revealed less porous structure in R0-100 comparing to untreated soil, which may be because pores were blocked by tar or surface coatings. As the temperature rose from 200 \mathbb{C} (Figure 4.13) to 300 \mathbb{C} (Figure 4.12), the surface morphology and porous structure were gradually developed. The untreated soil material had relatively smooth surface, while the rice straw had rougher surface and more pore structure. Therefore, with the addition of rice straw during pyrolysis process, more surface coatings and bigger pore diameter were found in the Figure 4.12 and Figure 4.13 compared to that in the Figure 4.10 and Figure 4.11. These phenomena were also indicated by the data of BET test whose pore diameter increased with elevated temperature and rice straw addition. Moreover, rice straw addition contributed to more surface coatings due to the partially charred biomass and closely bounded biomass-soil matrix (see Figure 4.11 and Figure 4.12). Comparing Figure 4.12c and Figure 4.13c, fiber structure of rice straw pyrolysis at 200 \mathbb{C} was clearer, while more coatings were closely combined with rice straw at 300 \mathbb{C} .

XRD diffractions patterns of raw soil sample and its co-pyrolyzed chars (R0-300, R10-300) were depicted in Figure 4.14. Based on the XRD intensity of different crystalline materials, it was obvious that all three samples contain large amounts of calcite (CaCO₃). Tang et al. (2008) reported that during the pyrolysis process, the organic matter and CaCO₃ decomposed and then the peak decreased. Compared to pyrolyzed samples (R0-300, R10-300), the peak of calcite weakened after pyrolysis treatment at 300 \mathbb{C} . The decomposition of CaCO₃ generated free CaO during pyrolysis process which could immobilize Cr by forming a more stable complex (Hu et al., 2013). This was in agreement with previous results that Cr was not prone to leaching after pyrolysis treatment. Quartz (SiO₂) and chromium oxide (Cr₂O₃) were also observed as main components in all the samples. For untreated soil, a peak around $2\theta = 27^{\circ}$ was distinct and disappeared after pyrolysis treatments, which was associated with CrOOH. This disappeared peak may be because CrOOH transformed to Cr₂O₃ after pyrolysis treatments. Li et al., (2008) and Liang et al. (2014) also reported CrOOH was usually used to obtain Cr₂O₃ through thermal decomposition. The results of XRD analyses therefore indicated that the Cr(III) was the main form, and no Cr(VI)containing crystalline phases were found by XRD, which may be limited by the low Cr(VI) content compared to high amount of Cr(III). Similar results were found by Zhou et al. (2018) who pyrolyzed tannery sludge during low temperature, and XRD results showed that no Cr(VI)-containing components were found by XRD although their tannery sludge had a high concentration of total Cr. In addition, no obvious mineral transform was found during the process of pyrolysis treatment at 300℃.

The FTIR spectroscopic study of the raw sample and produced chars were shown in Figure 4.15. It was obvious that FTIR spectra of untreated soil and its co-pyrolyzed chars were similar, which indicated that the pyrolysis treatment and rice straw addition during pyrolysis treatment did not contribute to noticeable functional groups changes. This phenomenon may be due to that soil sample in this study contained the main functional groups present in rice straw, and these functional groups did not disappear under 300 °C pyrolysis treatments. Similar results were reported by Huang et al. (2017) who also found no significant functional group changes present in biochar from different feedstocks (sewage sludge, sewage sludge-rice straw, and sewage sludge-sawdust). The intensity of the peak around 3400 cm⁻¹ slightly decreased in R10-300 compared to untreated soil, indicating that a part of hydroxyl groups was decomposed after pyrolysis with rice straw at 300 € (Leng et al., 2015). Devi and Saroha (2013) reported the presence of peak at 3393-3423 cm⁻¹ was due to the water molecule absorption as a result of hydroxyl group stretching and adsorbed water. The peak around 3141 cm⁻¹ was thought to be amides and amines, and the peaks between 1300 and 1797 cm⁻¹ could further confirm the presence of amides (Pokorna et al., 2009). Moreover, the absorption at 1026 cm⁻¹ could be associated with C-O-C symmetric stretching vibrations or anti-symmetrical Si-O-Si stretching due to the presence of quartz in the samples

59

(Hamed, 2014). The peaks between 600 and 800 cm⁻¹ were due to the presence of aromatic and heteroaromatic compounds, which would provide π -electron to strongly bond heavy metal cations (Harvey et al., 2011).



(a) 500X









 1/16/2018
 HV
 mag ⊞

 4:13:09 PM
 15.00 kV
 5 000 x

(g) 5000X



(f) 10000X



(h) 5000X

Figure 4.10 SEM of untreated soil



(a) 500X



(c) 5000X



(b) 2000X



Figure 4.11 SEM of soil sample R0-300


(a) 500X



(c) 5000X



(b) 2000X



(d) 5000X

Figure 4.12 SEM of soil sample R20-300



(a) 500X





(b) 2000X



Figure 4.13 SEM of soil sample R20-200



Figure 4.14 XRD spectra of untreated soil and selected pyrolyzed samples (R0-300 and R10-300)



Figure 4.15 FTIR spectra of untreated soil and selected pyrolyzed samples (R0-300 and R10-300)

4.10 Potential benefits and challenges of applying the proposed co-pyrolysis technique commercially

The untreated soil sample in this study contained a high concentration of total Cr, and its total content of Cr(VI) was about 1018 times higher than the limit of 0.4 mg kg⁻¹ recommended by Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines (CCME, 1999). The co-pyrolysis treatment in this study could efficiently decrease the leachable Cr and Cr(VI) contents, but it still exists several important factors restricting the industrial application of this co-pyrolysis technique. These factors include economic benefits, long-term effectiveness and environmental considerations.

Considering the economic aspects, cost and time required in the treatment determine the success of this co-pyrolysis technique when applied in the field remediation. Effectiveness for highly Cr contaminated soil is difficult to achieve using techniques such as isolation, phytoremediation or bioremediation, but co-pyrolysis could quickly and efficiently immobilize Cr. However, to proceed co-pyrolysis treatment, excavating the soil is inevitable, and excavation could be very expensive for large amount of soil. Therefore, co-pyrolysis treatment requires a relative high cost due to the high energy consumption compared to economical treatments such as natural bioremediation or phytoremediation. Nevertheless, those economical treatments require long-time periods to completely remediate the soil. In this study, co-pyrolysis could efficiently decrease Cr leaching and Cr(VI) contents at relative low temperatures (≤ 300 °C) in short treatment durations, which lowers energy consumption and cost and makes economic benefits achievable.

Compared to bioremediation and phytoextraction, co-pyrolysis does not need to adjust soil conditions for microorganisms or plants when applying to highly contaminated soil.

67

Although the co-pyrolysis treatment in this study could not permanently remove Cr from soil, Cr was immobilized in the soil. In order to assess the potential risk and long-term stability, the time-varying desorption tests, BCR sequential extraction and total Cr(VI) contents were conducted. The results in this study showed that co-pyrolysis could effectively reduce leachable Cr and transform Cr(VI) to Cr(III). Considering the chemistry of Cr, the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) is easier compared to the oxidation of Cr(III) to Cr(VI), and the oxidation conditions are limited by manganese oxides, water-soluble Cr, pH or ionic strength. In this study, the total Cr(VI) was decreased up to 86%, and it would be difficult to oxidize Cr(III) due to the unavailability of mobile Cr(III). Hence, this co-pyrolysis could be effective for long term, but regular monitoring system is still required to ensure that the immobilization conditions are sustained.

Unlike chemical remediation, co-pyrolysis would not generate secondary pollution in the site. The gas generated during the co-pyrolysis process could be collected and then used to generate heat or electricity. The oil generated could also be refined for engine fuels, chemicals, adhesives or other products. Consequently, the co-pyrolysis treatment appears to be a promising and acceptable for industrial application for the remediation of contaminated soil with high concentrations of Cr.

Chapter 5 Conclusions

5.1 Research summary

Although several studies have reported the effects of co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge and biomass on the immobilization of heavy metals, only a few researches studied the application of co-pyrolysis and impacts of co-pyrolysis Cr-contaminated soil with rice straw under temperature100-300 °C on Cr immobilization. The following conclusions have been obtained:

(1) The physicochemical properties of untreated soil and co-pyrolyzed chars under different conditions were analyzed. The LOI value was increased with the elevated temperature and rice straw addition, while no obvious influence was observed on longer reaction time. The soil collected in this study was alkaline soil, and its pH increased after pyrolysis soil or co-pyrolysis Cr contaminated soil with rice straw. Increasing pH was helpful to decrease the leachable Cr and Cr(VI) content. The volatilization of organic matter during co-pyrolysis treatment was also beneficial to Cr(VI) reduction.

(2) As expected, pyrolysis of Cr-contaminated soil could immobilize Cr, and copyrolysis of rice straw and Cr-contaminated soil could further reduce the toxic form of Cr based on the results of less Cr leaching (reduced up to 95 %), lower Cr (VI) concentrations (decreased up to 86 %) and less mobile Cr species (F1 and F2) compared to untreated soil. With the rising pyrolysis temperature, leachable Cr and total Cr(VI) concentration were decreased up to 81 % and 73 %, respectively. The fractions of Cr were also transformed from the mobile forms (F1 and F2) to more stable forms (F3 and F4). Similarly, increasing amount of rice straw during the pyrolysis process was able to decrease the content of leachable Cr (up to 47%) and transform Cr to more stable forms under 300 \mathbb{C} pyrolysis treatment, but had no influence on reducing the leachable Cr when conducted at 200 \mathbb{C} . However, addition ratio of rice straw played an important role on transforming Cr(VI) to Cr(III), which could effectively reduce Cr(VI) (up to 52%) with increasing addition of rice straw. Overall, the optimal co-pyrolysis treatment conditions observed in this study were adding 20 % of rice straw and using 300 \mathbb{C} , which could reach the lowest leachable Cr and total content of Cr (VI). However, reaction time did not show an obvious impact on reducing the toxicity of Cr.

(3) Time-varying desorption experiments were conducted in this study, and the results showed that our co-pyrolysis treatment could efficiently reduce the Cr release by three different extractants (citric acid, nitric acid and CaCl₂). Citric acid as an organic acid commonly present in the rhizosphere soil could extract more bioaccessible Cr than nitric acid and CaCl₂. Compared to R0-300, R10-300 showed lower Cr desorption when extracted by CaCl₂, but R0-300 released less Cr in citric acid. Meanwhile, it was found that the pseudo-second order kinetic model fitted better in Cr desorption ($R^2 > 0.9$). To further assess the bioaccessibility of Cr adsorbed in gastrointestinal system, SBET test was conducted and results showed that up to 70% of bioaccessible Cr decreased after co-pyrolysis treatment.

5.2 Limitations and future research

In this study, co-pyrolysis Cr contaminated soil with rice straw under temperature 100-300 °C was found to effectively immobilize Cr with low cost. This treatment is of great advantages over others due to its cost-effectiveness and applicability to large scale. However, the effects of this co-pyrolysis treatment on the reduction of Cr (VI) and Cr leaching were limited. Different kinds of biomass could be applied and compared for better reducing the toxicity of Cr and temperature range could be expanded to support enough energy to modify Cr species and mineral components. In the future, more mechanisms of reducing the toxicity of Cr should be investigated. The gas generated during the co-pyrolysis treatment should be collected and examined to better evaluate the effects of volatile gas on reduce the toxicity of Cr. The impacts of organic matter on Cr distribution could be explored as well. The spatial association between Cr and soil mineral using synchrotron-based technique could be conducted to better understand the distribution of Cr (III) and Cr (VI).

REFERENCES

- Adhikari, T., Manna, M. C., Singh, M. V., & Wanjari, R. H. (2004). Bioremediation measure to minimize heavy metals accumulation in soils and crops irrigated with city effluent. *Journal of Food Agriculture and Environment*, 2, 266-270.
- Agrafioti, E., Bouras, G., Kalderis, D., & Diamadopoulos, E. (2013). Biochar production by sewage sludge pyrolysis. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 101, 72-78.
- Ahemad, M. (2014). Bacterial mechanisms for Cr (VI) resistance and reduction: an overview and recent advances. *Folia microbiologica*, *59*(4), 321-332.
- Ahmad, M., Moon, D. H., Vithanage, M., Koutsospyros, A., Lee, S. S., Yang, J. E., ... & Ok, Y. S. (2014). Production and use of biochar from buffalo-weed (Ambrosia trifida L.) for trichloroethylene removal from water. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 89(1), 150-157.
- Ali, T., Mahmood, S., Khan, M. Y., Aslam, A., Hussain, M. B., Asghar, H. N., & Akhtar, M. J. (2013). Phytoremediation of cadmium contaminated soil by auxin assisted bacterial inoculation. *Asian J Agric Biol*, 1(2), 79-84.
- Al-Wabel, M. I., Al-Omran, A., El-Naggar, A. H., Nadeem, M., & Usman, A. R. (2013). Pyrolysis temperature induced changes in characteristics and chemical composition of biochar produced from conocarpus wastes. *Bioresource technology*, 131, 374-379.
- Amin, A. S., & Kassem, M. A. (2012). Chromium speciation in environmental samples using a solid phase spectrophotometric method. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 96, 541-547.
- Appels, L., Degrève, J., Van der Bruggen, B., Van Impe, J., & Dewil, R. (2010). Influence of low temperature thermal pre-treatment on sludge solubilisation, heavy metal release and anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource technology*, 101(15), 5743-5748.
- Apte, A. D., Verma, S., Tare, V., & Bose, P. (2005). Oxidation of Cr (III) in tannery sludge to Cr (VI): field observations and theoretical assessment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 121(1), 215-222.
- Arienzo, M., Adamo, P., & Cozzolino, V. (2004). The potential of Lolium perenne for revegetation of contaminated soil from a metallurgical site. *Science of the Total Environment*, 319(1-3), 13-25.
- Asha, L. P., & Sandeep, R. S. (2013). Review on bioremediation-potential tool for removing environmental pollution. *International Journal of Basic and Applied Chemical Sciences*, 3(3), 21-33.
- Ashraf, A., Bibi, I., Niazi, N. K., Ok, Y. S., Murtaza, G., Shahid, M., ... & Mahmood, T. (2017). Chromium (VI) sorption efficiency of acid-activated banana peel over organomontmorillonite in aqueous solutions. *International journal of phytoremediation*, 19(7), 605-613.

- Bai, J., Xun, P., Morris, S., Jacobs Jr, D. R., Liu, K., & He, K. (2015). Chromium exposure and incidence of metabolic syndrome among American young adults over a 23-year follow-up: the CARDIA Trace Element Study. *Scientific reports*, 5, 15606.
- Ballesteros, S., Rincón, J. M., Rincón-Mora, B., & Jordán, M. M. (2017). Vitrification of urban soil contamination by hexavalent chromium. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 174, 132-139.
- Bandara, T., Herath, I., Kumarathilaka, P., Hseu, Z. Y., Ok, Y. S., & Vithanage, M. (2017). Efficacy of woody biomass and biochar for alleviating heavy metal bioavailability in serpentine soil. *Environmental geochemistry and health*, 39(2), 391-401.
- Basta, N. T., Gradwohl, R., Snethen, K. L., & Schroder, J. L. (2001). Chemical immobilization of lead, zinc, and cadmium in smelter-contaminated soils using biosolids and rock phosphate. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 30(4), 1222-1230.
- Bielicka, A., Bojanowska, I., & Wisniewski, A. (2005). Two Faces of Chromium-Pollutant and Bioelement. *Polish journal of environmental studies*, 14(1).
- Boopathy, R. (2000). Factors limiting bioremediation technologies. *Bioresource technology*, 74(1), 63-67.
- Brewer, C. E., Unger, R., Schmidt-Rohr, K., & Brown, R. C. (2011). Criteria to select biochars for field studies based on biochar chemical properties. *BioEnergy Research*, 4(4), 312-323.
- Carrier, M., Hardie, A. G., Uras, Ü., Görgens, J., & Knoetze, J. H. (2012). Production of char from vacuum pyrolysis of South-African sugar cane bagasse and its characterization as activated carbon and biochar. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 96, 24-32.
- CCME, 1999. Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health. <u>http://ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/262</u>
- CCME, 2015. Canadian soil Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Environmental and Human Health. Canada Council of Ministers of the Environment Winnipeg.
- Cervantes, C., & Campos-García, J. (2007). Reduction and efflux of chromate by bacteria. In *Molecular microbiology of heavy metals* (pp. 407-419). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Cervantes, C., Campos-García, J., Devars, S., Gutiérrez-Corona, F., Loza-Tavera, H., Torres-Guzmán, J. C., & Moreno-Sánchez, R. (2001). Interactions of chromium with microorganisms and plants. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 25(3), 335-347.
- Cetin, E., Gupta, R., & Moghtaderi, B. (2005). Effect of pyrolysis pressure and heating rate on radiata pine char structure and apparent gasification reactivity. *Fuel*, *84*(10), 1328-1334.
- Cetin, E., Moghtaderi, B., Gupta, R., & Wall, T. F. (2004). Influence of pyrolysis conditions on the structure and gasification reactivity of biomass chars. *Fuel*, *83*(16), 2139-2150.
- Chaney, R. L., Angle, J. S., Broadhurst, C. L., Peters, C. A., Tappero, R. V., & Sparks, D. L. (2007). Improved understanding of hyperaccumulation yields commercial

phytoextraction and phytomining technologies. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *36*(5), 1429-1443.

- Chen, D., Yin, L., Wang, H., & He, P. (2015). Reprint of: pyrolysis technologies for municipal solid waste: a review. *Waste management*, *37*, 116-136.
- Chen, H., Arocena, J. M., Li, J., Thring, R. W., & Zhou, J. (2012). Mobility and storage sinks for chromium and other metals in soils impacted by leather tannery wastes. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 14(12), 3240-3248.
- Chen, M., Li, X. M., Yang, Q., Zeng, G. M., Zhang, Y., Liao, D. X., ... & Guo, L. (2008). Total concentrations and speciation of heavy metals in municipal sludge from Changsha, Zhuzhou and Xiangtan in middle-south region of China. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 160(2-3), 324-329.
- Chen, T., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Lu, W., Zhou, Z., Zhang, Y., & Ren, L. (2014). Influence of pyrolysis temperature on characteristics and heavy metal adsorptive performance of biochar derived from municipal sewage sludge. *Bioresource technology*, 164, 47-54.
- Cheung, K. H., & Gu, J. D. (2007). Mechanism of hexavalent chromium detoxification by microorganisms and bioremediation application potential: a review. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 59(1), 8-15.
- Collard, F. X., & Blin, J. (2014). A review on pyrolysis of biomass constituents: Mechanisms and composition of the products obtained from the conversion of cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *38*, 594-608.
- Costa, M. (2003). Potential hazards of hexavalent chromate in our drinking water. *Toxicology* and applied pharmacology, 188(1), 1-5.
- Dang, X., & Shan, Z. (2018). Dust pollution and control with leather waste. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *16*(2), 427-437.
- Das, S., Mishra, J., Das, S. K., Pandey, S., Rao, D. S., Chakraborty, A., ... & Thatoi, H. (2014). Investigation on mechanism of Cr (VI) reduction and removal by Bacillus amyloliquefaciens, a novel chromate tolerant bacterium isolated from chromite mine soil. *Chemosphere*, 96, 112-121.
- Debela, F., Thring, R. W., & Arocena, J. M. (2012). Immobilization of heavy metals by copyrolysis of contaminated soil with woody biomass. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 223*(3), 1161-1170.
- Demirbas, A. (2004). Effects of temperature and particle size on bio-char yield from pyrolysis of agricultural residues. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 72(2), 243-248.
- Dermont, G., Bergeron, M., Mercier, G., & Richer-Laflèche, M. (2008). Metal-contaminated soils: remediation practices and treatment technologies. *Practice periodical of hazardous, toxic, and radioactive waste management, 12*(3), 188-209.
- Devi, P., & Saroha, A. K. (2013). Effect of temperature on biochar properties during paper mill sludge pyrolysis. *International Journal of ChemTech Research*, 5(2), 682-687.

- Devi, P., & Saroha, A. K. (2014). Risk analysis of pyrolyzed biochar made from paper mill effluent treatment plant sludge for bioavailability and eco-toxicity of heavy metals. *Bioresource technology*, 162, 308-315.
- Dhal, B., Thatoi, H. N., Das, N. N., & Pandey, B. D. (2013). Chemical and microbial remediation of hexavalent chromium from contaminated soil and mining/metallurgical solid waste: a review. *Journal of hazardous materials*, *250*, 272-291.
- Di Palma, L., Gueye, M. T., & Petrucci, E. (2015). Hexavalent chromium reduction in contaminated soil: a comparison between ferrous sulphate and nanoscale zero-valent iron. *Journal of hazardous materials*, *281*, 70-76.
- Donkor, A. K., Bonzongo, J. C. J., Nartey, V. K., & Adotey, D. K. (2005). Heavy metals in sediments of the gold mining impacted Pra River basin, Ghana, West Africa. Soil & sediment contamination, 14(6), 479-503.
- Erdem, M., & Özverdi, A. (2008). Leaching behavior of chromium in chrome shaving generated in tanning process and its stabilization. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 156(1), 51-55.
- Ertani, A., Mietto, A., Borin, M., & Nardi, S. (2017). Chromium in agricultural soils and crops: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 228*(5), 190.
- Eskin, N. (2016). Chromium: is it essential and is it safe. Vitam Miner, 5, e144.
- Frohne, T., Diaz-Bone, R. A., Du Laing, G., & Rinklebe, J. (2015). Impact of systematic change of redox potential on the leaching of Ba, Cr, Sr, and V from a riverine soil into water. *Journal of soils and sediments*, *15*(3), 623-633.
- Fu, R., Zhang, X., Xu, Z., Guo, X., Bi, D., & Zhang, W. (2017). Fast and highly efficient removal of chromium (VI) using humus-supported nanoscale zero-valent iron: influencing factors, kinetics and mechanism. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 174, 362-371.
- Fuentes, A., Lloréns, M., Sáez, J., Aguilar, M. I., Ortuño, J. F., & Meseguer, V. F. (2008). Comparative study of six different sludges by sequential speciation of heavy metals. *Bioresource technology*, 99(3), 517-525.
- Gao, N., Quan, C., Liu, B., Li, Z., Wu, C., & Li, A. (2017). Continuous pyrolysis of sewage sludge in a screw-feeding reactor: products characterization and ecological risk assessment of heavy metals. *Energy & Fuels*, 31(5), 5063-5072.
- Gaskin, J. W., Speir, A., Morris, L. M., Ogden, L., Harris, K., Lee, D., & Das, K. C. (2007). Potential for pyrolysis char to affect soil moisture and nutrient status of a loamy sand soil. Georgia Institute of Technology.
- Gil-Cardeza, M. L., Ferri, A., Cornejo, P., & Gomez, E. (2014). Distribution of chromium species in a Cr-polluted soil: presence of Cr (III) in glomalin related protein fraction. *Science of the Total Environment*, *493*, 828-833.

- Hamed, M. M. (2014). Sorbent extraction behavior of a nonionic surfactant, Triton X-100, onto commercial charcoal from low level radioactive waste. *Journal of Radioanalytical* and Nuclear Chemistry, 302(1), 303-313.
- Han, F. X., Su, Y., Sridhar, B. M., & Monts, D. L. (2004). Distribution, transformation and bioavailability of trivalent and hexavalent chromium in contaminated soil. *Plant and soil*, 265(1-2), 243-252.
- Han, Y., Cao, X., Ouyang, X., Sohi, S. P., & Chen, J. (2016). Adsorption kinetics of magnetic biochar derived from peanut hull on removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solution: effects of production conditions and particle size. *Chemosphere*, 145, 336-341.
- Harvey, O. R., Herbert, B. E., Rhue, R. D., & Kuo, L. J. (2011). Metal interactions at the biochar-water interface: energetics and structure-sorption relationships elucidated by flow adsorption microcalorimetry. *Environmental science & technology*, 45(13), 5550-5556.
- He, M., Li, X., Liu, H., Miller, S. J., Wang, G., & Rensing, C. (2011). Characterization and genomic analysis of a highly chromate resistant and reducing bacterial strain Lysinibacillus fusiformis ZC1. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 185(2-3), 682-688.
- He, Y. D., Zhai, Y. B., Li, C. T., Yang, F., Chen, L., Fan, X. P., ... & Fu, Z. M. (2010). The fate of Cu, Zn, Pb and Cd during the pyrolysis of sewage sludge at different temperatures. *Environmental technology*, 31(5), 567-574.
- Hossain, M. K., Strezov, V., Chan, K. Y., & Nelson, P. F. (2010). Agronomic properties of wastewater sludge biochar and bioavailability of metals in production of cherry tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum). *Chemosphere*, 78(9), 1167-1171.
- Hossain, M. K., Strezov, V., Chan, K. Y., Ziolkowski, A., & Nelson, P. F. (2011). Influence of pyrolysis temperature on production and nutrient properties of wastewater sludge biochar. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92(1), 223-228.
- Houben, D., Evrard, L., & Sonnet, P. (2013). Beneficial effects of biochar application to contaminated soils on the bioavailability of Cd, Pb and Zn and the biomass production of rapeseed (Brassica napus L.). *biomass and bioenergy*, 57, 196-204.
- Huang, H. J., & Yuan, X. Z. (2016). The migration and transformation behaviors of heavy metals during the hydrothermal treatment of sewage sludge. *Bioresource technology*, 200, 991-998.
- Huang, H. J., Yang, T., Lai, F. Y., & Wu, G. Q. (2017). Co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge and sawdust/rice straw for the production of biochar. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 125, 61-68.
- Izquierdo, M., De Miguel, E., Ortega, M. F., & Mingot, J. (2015). Bioaccessibility of metals and human health risk assessment in community urban gardens. *Chemosphere*, 135, 312-318.
- Jacobs, J., Hardison, R. L., & Rose, J. V. (2001). In-situ remediation of heavy metals using sulfur-based treatment technologies. *Hydrovisions*, 10(2), 1-4. Jankaite, A., & Vasarevičius, S. (2005). Remediation technologies for soils contaminated with heavy

metals. *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Landscape Management*, 13(2), 109-113.

- Jankaite, A., & Vasarevičius, S. (2005). Remediation technologies for soils contaminated with heavy metals. *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Landscape Management*, 13(2), 109-113.
- Jean-Soro, L., Bordas, F., & Bollinger, J. C. (2012). Column leaching of chromium and nickel from a contaminated soil using EDTA and citric acid. *Environmental Pollution*, 164, 175-181.
- Jiang, T. Y., Jiang, J., Xu, R. K., & Li, Z. (2012). Adsorption of Pb (II) on variable charge soils amended with rice-straw derived biochar. *Chemosphere*, *89*(3), 249-256.
- Jin, B., Wen, L., LI, C. Z., BAI, Z. Q., & LI, B. Q. (2009). Influences of mineral matter on high temperature gasification of coal char. *Journal of Fuel Chemistry and Technology*, 37(2), 134-138.
- Jin, J., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Wu, S., Cao, Y., Liang, P., ... & Christie, P. (2016). Influence of pyrolysis temperature on properties and environmental safety of heavy metals in biochars derived from municipal sewage sludge. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 320, 417-426.
- Jin, J., Wang, M., Cao, Y., Wu, S., Liang, P., Li, Y., ... & Christie, P. (2017). Cumulative effects of bamboo sawdust addition on pyrolysis of sewage sludge: biochar properties and environmental risk from metals. *Bioresource technology*, 228, 218-226.
- Jing, Y. D., He, Z. L., & Yang, X. E. (2007). Effects of pH, organic acids, and competitive cations on mercury desorption in soils. *Chemosphere*, *69*(10), 1662-1669.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. (2010). Trace elements in soils and plants. CRC press.
- Kalra, Y. P., & Maynard, D. G. (1991). *Methods manual for forest soil and plant analysis* (Vol. 319).
- Khan, A. G. (2001). Relationships between chromium biomagnification ratio, accumulation factor, and mycorrhizae in plants growing on tannery effluent-polluted soil. *Environment International*, *26*(5-6), 417-423.
- Kisku, G. C., Barman, S. C., & Bhargava, S. K. (2000). Contamination of soil and plants with potentially toxic elements irrigated with mixed industrial effluent and its impact on the environment. *Water, air, and soil pollution*, *120*(1-2), 121-137.
- Kotaś, J., & Stasicka, Z. (2000). Chromium occurrence in the environment and methods of its speciation. *Environmental pollution*, *107*(3), 263-283.
- Kumpiene, J., Lagerkvist, A., & Maurice, C. (2008). Stabilization of As, Cr, Cu, Pb and Zn in soil using amendments-a review. *Waste management*, 28(1), 215-225.
- Lange, J. P. (2007). Lignocellulose conversion: an introduction to chemistry, process and economics. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining: Innovation for a sustainable economy*, *1*(1), 39-48.

- Leng, L. J., Yuan, X. Z., Huang, H. J., Wang, H., Wu, Z. B., Fu, L. H., ... & Zeng, G. M. (2015). Characterization and application of bio-chars from liquefaction of microalgae, lignocellulosic biomass and sewage sludge. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 129, 8-14.
- Li, G., Guo, S., Li, S., Zhang, L., & Wang, S. (2012). Comparison of approaching and fixed anodes for avoiding the 'focusing'effect during electrokinetic remediation of chromium-contaminated soil. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 203, 231-238.
- Li, P., Xu, H. B., Zheng, S. L., Zhang, Y., Li, Z. H., & Bai, Y. L. (2008). A green process to prepare chromic oxide green pigment. *Environmental science & technology*, 42(19), 7231-7235.
- Li, Y., Wang, W., Zhou, L., Liu, Y., Mirza, Z. A., & Lin, X. (2017). Remediation of hexavalent chromium spiked soil by using synthesized iron sulfide particles. *Chemosphere*, 169, 131-138.
- Liang, S. T., Zhang, H. L., Luo, M. T., Luo, K. J., Li, P., Xu, H. B., & Zhang, Y. (2014). Colour performance investigation of a Cr2O3 green pigment prepared via the thermal decomposition of CrOOH. *Ceramics International*, 40(3), 4367-4373.
- Liikanen, M., Havukainen, J., Viana, E., & Horttanainen, M. (2018). Steps towards more environmentally sustainable municipal solid waste management–A life cycle assessment study of São Paulo, Brazil. *Journal of Cleaner Production*.
- Lim, T. T., Tay, J. H., & Wang, J. Y. (2004). Chelating-agent-enhanced heavy metal extraction from a contaminated acidic soil. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 130(1), 59-66.
- Ljung, K., Selinus, O., Otabbong, E., & Berglund, M. (2006). Metal and arsenic distribution in soil particle sizes relevant to soil ingestion by children. *Applied Geochemistry*, 21(9), 1613-1624.
- Lukina, A. O., Boutin, C., Rowland, O., & Carpenter, D. J. (2016). Evaluating trivalent chromium toxicity on wild terrestrial and wetland plants. *Chemosphere*, *162*, 355-364.
- Luo, X. S., Ding, J., Xu, B., Wang, Y. J., Li, H. B., & Yu, S. (2012). Incorporating bioaccessibility into human health risk assessments of heavy metals in urban park soils. *Science of the Total Environment*, 424, 88-96.
- Maiti, S., Dey, S., Purakayastha, S., & Ghosh, B. (2006). Physical and thermochemical characterization of rice husk char as a potential biomass energy source. *Bioresource Technology*, 97(16), 2065-2070.
- Manara, P., & Zabaniotou, A. (2012). Towards sewage sludge based biofuels via thermochemical conversion–a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 16(5), 2566-2582.
- Mandina, S., & Mugadza, T. (2014). Chromium, an essential nutrient and pollutant: a review.
- Martin, T. A., & Ruby, M. V. (2004). Review of in situ remediation technologies for lead, zinc, and cadmium in soil. *Remediation Journal: The Journal of Environmental Cleanup Costs, Technologies & Techniques*, 14(3), 35-53.

- Méndez, A., Gómez, A., Paz-Ferreiro, J., & Gascó, G. (2012). Effects of sewage sludge biochar on plant metal availability after application to a Mediterranean soil. *Chemosphere*, 89(11), 1354-1359.
- Méndez, A., Tarquis, A. M., Saa-Requejo, A., Guerrero, F., & Gascó, G. (2013). Influence of pyrolysis temperature on composted sewage sludge biochar priming effect in a loamy soil. *Chemosphere*, 93(4), 668-676.
- Meunier, L., Koch, I., & Reimer, K. J. (2011). Effects of organic matter and ageing on the bioaccessibility of arsenic. *Environmental pollution*, *159*(10), 2530-2536.
- Mishra, G. K. (2017). Microbes in Heavy Metal Remediation: A Review on Current Trends and Patents. *Recent patents on biotechnology*.
- Mishra, S., & Bharagava, R. N. (2016). Toxic and genotoxic effects of hexavalent chromium in environment and its bioremediation strategies. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part C*, *34*(1), 1-32.
- Mitch, M. L. (2002). Phytoextraction of toxic metals: a review of biological mechanism. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *31*(1), 109-120.
- Mohamed, B. A., Ellis, N., Kim, C. S., Bi, X., & Emam, A. E. R. (2016). Engineered biochar from microwave-assisted catalytic pyrolysis of switchgrass for increasing waterholding capacity and fertility of sandy soil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 566, 387-397.
- Mohan, D., Rajput, S., Singh, V. K., Steele, P. H., & Pittman Jr, C. U. (2011). Modeling and evaluation of chromium remediation from water using low cost bio-char, a green adsorbent. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 188(1-3), 319-333.
- Mullet, M., Boursiquot, S., & Ehrhardt, J. J. (2004). Removal of hexavalent chromium from solutions by mackinawite, tetragonal FeS. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 244(1-3), 77-85.
- Mulligan, C. N., Yong, R. N., & Gibbs, B. F. (2001). Remediation technologies for metalcontaminated soils and groundwater: an evaluation. *Engineering geology*, 60(1-4), 193-207.
- Nashy, E. H. A., Hussein, A. I., & Essa, M. M. (2011). Novel Retaining Agents for Chrome Tanned Leather based on Emulsion-Nano Particles of Styrene/Butyl Acrylate Copolymers. *Journal of the American Leather Chemists' Association*, 106(9), 241-248.
- Navari-Izzo, F., & Quartacci, M. F. (2001). Phytoremediation of metals: tolerance mechanisms against oxidative stress. *Minerva Biotecnologica*, 13(2), 73.
- Noli, F., & Tsamos, P. (2016). Concentration of heavy metals and trace elements in soils, waters and vegetables and assessment of health risk in the vicinity of a lignite-fired power plant. *Science of the Total Environment*, *563*, 377-385.
- Novak, J. M., Lima, I., Xing, B., Gaskin, J. W., Steiner, C., Das, K. C., ... & Schomberg, H. (2009). Characterization of designer biochar produced at different temperatures and their effects on a loamy sand. *Annals of Environmental Science*.

- Nowak, B., Aschenbrenner, P., & Winter, F. (2013). Heavy metal removal from sewage sludge ash and municipal solid waste fly ash—a comparison. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 105, 195-201.
- Nzihou, A., & Stanmore, B. (2013). The fate of heavy metals during combustion and gasification of contaminated biomass—a brief review. *Journal of hazardous materials*, *256*, 56-66.
- Oomen, A. G., Hack, A., Minekus, M., Zeijdner, E., Cornelis, C., Schoeters, G., ... & Sips, A. J. (2002). Comparison of five in vitro digestion models to study the bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. *Environmental science & technology*, 36(15), 3326-3334.
- Paisio, C. E., Fernandez, M., González, P. S., Talano, M. A., Medina, M. I., & Agostini, E. (2018). Simultaneous phytoremediation of chromium and phenol by Lemna minuta Kunth: a promising biotechnological tool. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 15(1), 37-48.
- Paz-Ferreiro, J., Lu, H., Fu, S., Méndez, A., & Gascó, G. (2014). Use of phytoremediation and biochar to remediate heavy metal polluted soils: a review. *Solid Earth*, 5(1), 65-75.
- Peng, K., Li, X., Luo, C., & Shen, Z. (2006). Vegetation composition and heavy metal uptake by wild plants at three contaminated sites in Xiangxi area, China. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 41(1), 65-76.
- Poggio, L., Vrščaj, B., Schulin, R., Hepperle, E., & Marsan, F. A. (2009). Metals pollution and human bioaccessibility of topsoils in Grugliasco (Italy). *Environmental Pollution*, 157(2), 680-689.
- Pokorna, E., Postelmans, N., Jenicek, P., Schreurs, S., Carleer, R., & Yperman, J. (2009). Study of bio-oils and solids from flash pyrolysis of sewage sludges. *Fuel*, 88(8), 1344-1350.
- Prado, C., Ponce, S. C., Pagano, E., Prado, F. E., & Rosa, M. (2016). Differential physiological responses of two Salvinia species to hexavalent chromium at a glance. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 175, 213-221.
- Prasad, A., Singh, A. K., Chand, S., Chanotiya, C. S., & Patra, D. D. (2010). Effect of chromium and lead on yield, chemical composition of essential oil, and accumulation of heavy metals of mint species. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 41(18), 2170-2186.
- Pulford, I. D., & Watson, C. (2003). Phytoremediation of heavy metal-contaminated land by trees—a review. *Environment international*, 29(4), 529-540.
- Pulford, I. D., Watson, C., & McGregor, S. D. (2001). Uptake of chromium by trees: prospects for phytoremediation. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 23(3), 307-311.
- Qamar, M., Gondal, M. A., & Yamani, Z. H. (2011). Synthesis of nanostructured NiO and its application in laser-induced photocatalytic reduction of Cr (VI) from water. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 341(1-2), 83-88.

- Qin, F., Shan, X. Q., & Wei, B. (2004). Effects of low-molecular-weight organic acids and residence time on desorption of Cu, Cd, and Pb from soils. *Chemosphere*, 57(4), 253-263.
- Rauret, G., Lopez-Sanchez, J. F., Sahuquillo, A., Rubio, R., Davidson, C., Ure, A., & Quevauviller, P. (1999). Improvement of the BCR three step sequential extraction procedure prior to the certification of new sediment and soil reference materials. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 1(1), 57-61.
- Ruby, M. V., Davis, A., Link, T. E., Schoof, R., Chaney, R. L., Freeman, G. B., & Bergstrom, P. (1993). Development of an in vitro screening test to evaluate the in vivo bioaccessibility of ingested mine-waste lead. Environmental science & technology, 27(13), 2870-2877.
- Ruby, M. V., Schoof, R., Brattin, W., Goldade, M., Post, G., Harnois, M., ... & Edwards, D. (1999). Advances in evaluating the oral bioavailability of inorganics in soil for use in human health risk assessment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 33(21), 3697-3705.
- Sarmah, A. K., Srinivasan, P., Smernik, R. J., Manley-Harris, M., Antal, M. J., Downie, A., & van Zwieten, L. (2010). Retention capacity of biochar-amended New Zealand dairy farm soil for an estrogenic steroid hormone and its primary metabolite. *Soil Research*, 48(7), 648-658.
- Shaheen, S. M., & Rinklebe, J. (2014). Geochemical fractions of chromium, copper, and zinc and their vertical distribution in floodplain soil profiles along the Central Elbe River, Germany. *Geoderma*, 228, 142-159.
- Shahid, M., Shamshad, S., Rafiq, M., Khalid, S., Bibi, I., Niazi, N. K., ... & Rashid, M. I. (2017). Chromium speciation, bioavailability, uptake, toxicity and detoxification in soil-plant system: A review. *Chemosphere*, 178, 513-533.
- Sharma, P., Bihari, V., Agarwal, S. K., Verma, V., Kesavachandran, C. N., Pangtey, B. S., ... & Goel, S. K. (2012). Groundwater contaminated with hexavalent chromium [Cr (VI)]: a health survey and clinical examination of community inhabitants (Kanpur, India). *PloS one*, 7(10), e47877.
- Sharma, S., Agrawal, R. P., Choudhary, M., Jain, S., Goyal, S., & Agarwal, V. (2011). Beneficial effect of chromium supplementation on glucose, HbA1C and lipid variables in individuals with newly onset type-2 diabetes. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine* and Biology, 25(3), 149-153.
- Singh, S., & Sinha, S. (2004). Morphoanatomical response of two varieties of Brassica juncea (L.) Czern. grown on tannery sludge amended soil. *Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*, 72(5), 1017-1024.
- Song, W., & Guo, M. (2012). Quality variations of poultry litter biochar generated at different pyrolysis temperatures. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 94, 138-145.

- Stals, M., Thijssen, E., Vangronsveld, J., Carleer, R., Schreurs, S., & Yperman, J. (2010). Flash pyrolysis of heavy metal contaminated biomass from phytoremediation: influence of temperature, entrained flow and wood/leaves blended pyrolysis on the behaviour of heavy metals. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 87(1), 1-7.
- Stollenwerk, K. G., & Grove, D. B. (1985). Adsorption and Desorption of Hexavalent Chromium in an Alluvial Aquifer Near Telluride, Colorado 1. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 14(1), 150-155.
- Sun, K., Ro, K., Guo, M., Novak, J., Mashayekhi, H., & Xing, B. (2011). Sorption of bisphenol A, 17α-ethinyl estradiol and phenanthrene on thermally and hydrothermally produced biochars. *Bioresource Technology*, 102(10), 5757-5763.
- Sutton, P., & Dick, W. A. (1987). Reclamation of acidic mined lands in humid areas. *Advances in agronomy*, *41*(377406), 775833.
- Swarnalatha, S., Ramani, K., Karthi, A. G., & Sekaran, G. (2006). Starved air combustion– solidification/stabilization of primary chemical sludge from a tannery. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 137(1), 304-313.
- Tang, J., Zhu, W., Kookana, R., & Katayama, A. (2013). Characteristics of biochar and its application in remediation of contaminated soil. *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering*, 116(6), 653-659.
- Tang, P., Zhao, Y., & Xia, F. (2008). Thermal behaviors and heavy metal vaporization of phosphatized tannery sludge in incineration process. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 20(9), 1146-1152.
- Thatoi, H. N., & Pradhan, S. K. (2017). Detoxification and Bioremediation of Hexavalent Chromium Using Microbes and Their Genes: An Insight into Genomic, Proteomic and Bioinformatics Studies. In *Microbial Biotechnology* (pp. 287-306). Springer, Singapore.
- Tian, K., Liu, W. J., Qian, T. T., Jiang, H., & Yu, H. Q. (2014). Investigation on the evolution of N-containing organic compounds during pyrolysis of sewage sludge. *Environmental science & technology*, 48(18), 10888-10896.
- Tiwari, K. K., Dwivedi, S., Singh, N. K., Rai, U. N., & Tripathi, R. D. (2009). Chromium (VI) induced phytotoxicity and oxidative stress in pea (Pisum sativum L.): biochemical changes and translocation of essential nutrients. *J Environ Biol*, *30*(3), 389-394.
- Townsend, T., Tolaymat, T., Solo-Gabriele, H., Dubey, B., Stook, K., & Wadanambi, L. (2004). Leaching of CCA-treated wood: implications for waste disposal. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 114(1-3), 75-91.
- U.S.E.P.A U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2000). Effluent limitations guidelines, pretreatment standards, commercial haz- ardous waste combustor subcategory, BFederal Register^ 65(18),40 CFR part 423. Washington DC: EPA-Water.
- Uchimiya, M., Wartelle, L. H., Klasson, K. T., Fortier, C. A., & Lima, I. M. (2011). Influence of pyrolysis temperature on biochar property and function as a heavy metal sorbent in soil. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 59(6), 2501-2510.

- USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 1994. Hazardous waste test methods (SW-846), Chromium, Hexavalent (Colorimetric). [Online resource] https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/7196a.pdf.
- USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 1994. Hazardous waste test methods (SW-846), Synthetic Precipitation Leaching Procedure (SPLP). [Online resource] <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/1312.pdf</u>.
- USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 1994. Hazardous waste test methods (SW-846), Alkaline Digestion for Hexavalent Chromium. [Online resource] <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/3060a.pdf</u>.
- USEPA, 1994. Selection of Control Technologies for Remediation of Soil Contaminated with Arsenic, Cadmium, Chromium, Lead or Mercury. Revised Draft Engineering Bulletin, January 31.
- Valo, A., Carrere, H., & Delgenes, J. P. (2004). Thermal, chemical and thermo-chemical pretreatment of waste activated sludge for anaerobic digestion. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology: International Research in Process, Environmental & Clean Technology*, 79(11), 1197-1203.
- Vamerali, T., Bandiera, M., & Mosca, G. (2010). Field crops for phytoremediation of metalcontaminated land. A review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 8(1), 1-17.
- Vamvuka, D. (2011). Bio-oil, solid and gaseous biofuels from biomass pyrolysis processes an overview. *International Journal of Energy Research*, *35*(10), 835-862.
- Viti, C., Pace, A., & Giovannetti, L. (2003). Characterization of Cr (VI)-resistant bacteria isolated from chromium-contaminated soil by tannery activity. *Current microbiology*, 46(1), 0001-0005.
- Vogel, C., Radtke, M., Reinholz, U., Sch fers, F., & Adam, C. (2015). Chemical state of chromium, sulfur, and iron in sewage sludge ash based phosphorus fertilizers. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 3(10), 2376-2380.
- Wang, Z. X., Chen, J. Q., Chai, L. Y., Yang, Z. H., Huang, S. H., & Zheng, Y. (2011). Environmental impact and site-specific human health risks of chromium in the vicinity of a ferro-alloy manufactory, China. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 190(1-3), 980-985.
- Wang, Z., Liu, G., Zheng, H., Li, F., Ngo, H. H., Guo, W., ... & Xing, B. (2015). Investigating the mechanisms of biochar's removal of lead from solution. *Bioresource technology*, 177, 308-317.
- White, J. E., Catallo, W. J., & Legendre, B. L. (2011). Biomass pyrolysis kinetics: a comparative critical review with relevant agricultural residue case studies. *Journal of analytical and applied pyrolysis*, 91(1), 1-33.
- Wragg, J., & Cave, M. R. (2003). In-vitro methods for the measurement of the oral bioaccessibility of selected metals and metalloids in soils: a critical review. Bristol: Environment Agency.

- Wuana, R. A., & Okieimen, F. E. (2011). Heavy metals in contaminated soils: a review of sources, chemistry, risks and best available strategies for remediation. *Isrn Ecology*, 2011.
- Xiong, T., Leveque, T., Shahid, M., Foucault, Y., Mombo, S., & Dumat, C. (2014). Lead and cadmium phytoavailability and human bioaccessibility for vegetables exposed to soil or atmospheric pollution by process ultrafine particles. *Journal of environmental quality*, 43(5), 1593-1600.
- Xu, G. R., Zou, J. L., & Li, G. B. (2008). Stabilization of heavy metals in ceramsite made with sewage sludge. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 152(1), 56-61.
- Xu, W. B., Zhou, Q. S., Peng, Z. H., & Liu, G. H. (2011). Leaching kinetics of acid-soluble Cr (VI) from chromite ore processing residue with hydrofluoric acid. *Journal of Central South University of Technology*, 18(2), 399-405.
- Yao, Z., Li, J., Xie, H., & Yu, C. (2012). Review on remediation technologies of soil contaminated by heavy metals. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 16, 722-729.
- Yuan, H., Lu, T., Wang, Y., Huang, H., & Chen, Y. (2014). Influence of pyrolysis temperature and holding time on properties of biochar derived from medicinal herb (radix isatidis) residue and its effect on soil CO2 emission. *Journal of analytical and applied pyrolysis*, 110, 277-284.
- Zayed, A. M., & Terry, N. (2003). Chromium in the environment: factors affecting biological remediation. *Plant and soil*, 249(1), 139-156.
- Zhang, D. L., Zhang, M. Y., Zhang, C. H., Sun, Y. J., Sun, X., & Yuan, X. Z. (2016). Pyrolysis treatment of chromite ore processing residue by biomass: cellulose pyrolysis and Cr (VI) reduction behavior. *Environmental science & technology*, 50(6), 3111-3118.
- Zhang, D., He, S., Dai, L., Hu, X., Wu, D., Peng, K., ... & Kong, H. (2009). Treatment of chromite ore processing residue by pyrolysis with rice straw. *Chemosphere*, 77(8), 1143-1145.
- Zhang, D., Kong, H., Wu, D., He, S., Hu, Z., & Dai, L. (2009). Impact of pyrolysis treatment on heavy metals in sediment. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 18(6), 754-765.
- Zhao, B., Xu, X., Xu, S., Chen, X., Li, H., & Zeng, F. (2017). Surface characteristics and potential ecological risk evaluation of heavy metals in the bio-char produced by copyrolysis from municipal sewage sludge and hazelnut shell with zinc chloride. *Bioresource technology*, 243, 375-383.
- Zhou, J., Ma, H., Gao, M., Sun, W., Zhu, C., & Chen, X. (2018). Changes of chromium speciation and organic matter during low-temperature pyrolysis of tannery sludge. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(3), 2495-2505.